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Financial Highlights

2024 2023
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HK$ million HK$ million

BEEBT BEBTT
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Property, plant and equipment ME - BENERE 176.4 192.4
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Basic loss per share FREKREE (HK3.39 cents #&{l)) (HK9.77 cents /&1L)
REVENUE BY OPERATING SEGMENT REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

BREEIHEZBA BRHBEER WA

P

2024

iy,

2023

2024 2023
ZRIRE| -
Hong Kong &7 2.8% 3.2%
© Mainland China R EI A 9.1% 7.6%
® Japan and other Asian countries BAREMTMER |  53.0%|  55.0%
® North America Jt 18.1% 15.9%
2024 203 South America M 14.6% 13%
ZECME(ZTZ=F e furope BUM 0.1%]  13.1%
© Precision parts and components E%Z H 100% 100% @ Other countries EMHEZR 2.3% 3.9%
Total #5 100% 100% Total 423t 100.0% 100%
REVENUE (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
L'ON OF THE COMPANY
KATEE ARG (BE) BT
HKS' Milion B B4 7T HKS’ Milion B B8 7T
500 — 70 — 66.9 63.3
418.2 60 |-
400 50 [~
40 |-
300 30 -
20 |-
200 wr @61) @1
100 o0k 0.5)
00 -
0 -30
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

K & P International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2024




On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
report the annual audited results of the Company together with
the subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$176.4 million, representing a
decrease of 5.0% from the previous year. Overall gross profit
amounted to approximately HK$36.3 million, representing an
increase of 41.6% from the previous year. Loss attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$9.1 million (2023:
HK$26.1 million).

Basic loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK3.39 cents (2023: HK9.77 cents) per share.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy faced significant challenges due to
rising geopolitical tensions, protectionist policies and ongoing
tariff wars. These factors resulted in the economic anxiety and
uncertainty, leading to low consumer confidence. The European
market, being the major market for the Group’s top customers,
struggled to maintain low economic growth rates in 2024. Despite
these challenges, the Group managed to benefit from an increase
in customer order intake and the clearance of excess inventory by
the major customers in 2023. Hence, the utilisation of the Group’s
production facilities improved, which led to an improvement in
gross profit as compared to 2023. In addition, due to the high
volatility in the exchange rate of Renminbi (“RMB"”), the Group
early terminated or closedout the forward currency contracts in
April 2024. In 2024, the Group incurred loss of approximately
HK$10.6 million (2023: HK$16.7 million) in the forward currency
contracts, which included the loss due to maturity and early-
termination of forward currency contracts of approximately
HK$1.0 million and HK$7.3 million respectively, and closed-out
loss of approximately HK$2.3 million (2023: loss from maturity
and outstanding forward currency contracts of HK$6.9 million and
HK$9.8 million respectively).

For the precision parts and components segment, the turnover
decreased by 5.0% to approximately HK$176.4 million as
compared with 2023. If excluded the above one-off early-
termination and closed-out losses of forward currency contracts
of approximately HK$9.6 million, the segment recorded a profit of
approximately HK$3.7 million.

EFRE®RE

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

The gross profit margin of the Group in 2024 had increased by
6.8 percentage points to 20.6% as compared with 2023, which
the reasons had been discussed above. The selling and distribution
costs decreased by 4.3% to approximately HK$16.1 million,
while the administrative and other expenses decreased by 4.8%
to approximately HK$22.1 million. The financial costs decreased
by 35.9% to approximately HK$0.3 million, due to the decline in
financing activities.

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global growth at the major markets is
projected to remain below historical averages. The market is
expected to be influenced by ongoing concerns over tariffs
imposed by the United States (“U.S.”) on its largest trade partners,
including Canada, Mexico, and China, which had imposed
the retaliatory tariffs on U.S. products. Certain central banks
concerned the tariff could led stoke inflation, giving the central
banks less room to cut the interest rates. In addition, the ongoing
Ukraine war, persistent inflationary pressures, high interest rates,
and rising debt level due to the increased defense spending in
the Ukraine War created a challenging economic environment
across Europe. These factors affect both consumer sentiment
and business confidence, leading to a cautious approach toward
spending and investment. Despite these challenges, the Group has
successfully addressed its excess inventory issues and improved
the flexibility and efficiency of its production processes. These
improvements had already contributed to a better result in the
second half of 2024. With a strong balance sheet and continued
operational improvements, the Group is confident that the
profitability will be further improved in 2025. The Group’s financial
position is healthy, and strong enough to finance any business
expansion and daily operation, amid any economic uncertainty in
the future.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to thank our board
of directors, management team and all our staff for their
contribution, and also thank for the support of our shareholders
and business partners over the years.

Lai Pei Wor
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OPERATIONS REVIEW

The following highlights the Group’s results for the year ended 31
December 2024.

o Turnover decreased by 5.0% from the previous year to
approximately HK$176.4 million for the year.

o Gross profit increased by HK$10.7 million from the previous
year to approximately HK$36.3 million in 2024.

o Loss before finance costs decreased by HK$17.6 million from
the previous year to approximately HK$8.4 million for the
year.

o Finance costs decreased by HK$0.2 million from the previous
year to approximately HK$0.3 million.

o Loss after tax for the year was approximately HK$9.1 million.

In the year under review, turnover of the precision parts and
components segment had decreased by 5.0% as compared with
the previous year.

The Group’s overall gross profit had increased by 41.6% from the
previous year.

The Group’s finance costs decreased to approximately HK$0.3
million for the year due to decline in financing activities.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and loan facilities provided by its principal
bankers and other financial institution in Hong Kong.

The total borrowings from banks included all term loans, import
and export loans, which amounted to approximately HK$3.0
million as at 31 December 2024.

The Group’s financial position remains healthy. At the end of the
reporting period, the aggregate balance of bank balances and cash
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$67.2 million.

The Group’s borrowings are on a floating rate basis and are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. These match with the principal
currencies in which the Group conducts its business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

The gearing ratio on the basis of net debt divided by the total
capital plus net debt as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was
negative. The negative gearing ratio as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 represents the Group is “net cash” position (i.e. more bank
balances and cash than its debt).

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the Group’s machines
and equipment was pledged under lease.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 267,004,800 ordinary
shares in issue with total shareholders’ equity of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$255.8 million.

FUND RAISING

Other than obtaining general loan facilities to finance the Group’s
trading requirements, the Group did not have any fund raising
activities in 2024.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total workforce of
approximately 698 of which approximately 26 were based in Hong
Kong, approximately 5 were based in overseas and approximately
667 were based in Mainland China.

Moreover, under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Group has operated a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme for all
its Hong Kong employees. For overseas and Mainland China
employees, the Group is required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme
operated by the respective local governments.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects
its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is
imperative to act with probity, transparency and accountability.
By so acting, the Company believes that shareholder wealth will
be maximised in the long term and that its employees, those with
whom it does business and the communities in which it operates
will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to
maintaining and developing robust corporate governance practices
that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products to the satisfaction of
customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Group will continuously review and adjust, if necessary,
its business strategies and keep track of the changing market
conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken
to respond to the changes and meet the market needs to foster
the sustainability of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the directors, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, as set out
in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024, except for the following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are not separate and are performed by
Mr. Lai Pei Wor. Since the Board will meet regularly to consider
major matters affecting the operations of the Company, the Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the
Company and believes that this structure will enable the Company
to make and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board
responsibilities. The Board includes a balanced composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors so
that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which
can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
directors:

Executive Directors

Lai Pei Wor (Chairman)
Chan Yau Wah (Deputy Chairman)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mak Kwai Wing
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph
Pong Suet Hing

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Responsibilities and delegation of functions

The Board of the Company is collectively responsible for the
oversight of the management of the business and affairs of the
Group with the objective of enhancing shareholders’ value. The
overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business to the executive directors. In addition,
the Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

The Board focuses its attention on matters affecting the
Company’s overall strategic policies, finances and shareholders.
These include financial statements, dividend policy, significant
changes in accounting policy, the annual operating budget, certain
material contracts, strategies for future growth, major financing
arrangements and major investments, risk management strategies,
treasury policies and group structure.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors its
financial performance and maintains effective oversight over the
management. The Board members are fully committed to their
roles and have acted in good faith to maximise the shareholders’
value in the long run, and has aligned the Group’s goals and
directions with the prevailing economic and market conditions.
Daily operations and administration are delegated to the
management.

The Company has put in place appropriate insurance cover in
respect of director’s liability.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

During the year ended 31 December 2024, five regular board
meetings were held at approximately quarterly intervals for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance,
and considering and approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company and one annual general meeting was held. The
attendance record of each director is set out below:

Attendance of annual
general meeting

EEgERNRRBEXRSE
ERBEARESHECTR
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e

Attendance of
Board meetings

in 2024 in 2024
—E-MNEHE —E-NEHE
Name of director EENA BREBERSRE BEESEENY
Lai Pei Wor #B 5T AN 11 5/5
Chan Yau Wah (Cy = 11 5/5
Mak Kwai Wing BEL 11 4/5
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph = 1/1 5/5
Pong Suet Hing BEE 1/1 5/5
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION TEERBE
The Company has not set up a corporate governance committee. RABWERBR R EREZES %%

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out hereunder:

(a)

develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management;

review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and
directors of the Company;

review the Company’s compliance with the code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

review these terms of reference and their effectiveness and
from time to time recommend any necessary changes.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer are
not separate and are performed by Mr. Lai Pei Wor. Since the
Board will meet regularly to consider major matters affecting the
operations of the Company, the Board considers that this structure
will not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the management of the Company and believes that
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and efficiently.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive directors have contracts
with the Company for a specified period of two years and are
appointed subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws and the CG Code.

Each independent non-executive director has made an annual
confirmation of independence to the Company and the Company
considers these directors to be independent under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. None of the directors is related to each other.

Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph, who have been serving as Independent
Non-executive Directors of the Company for more than 9 years,
have confirmed his independence with reference to the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph is still independent in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and
will continue to bring valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment
to better safeqguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board
effectiveness, maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need
improvement or further development. The evaluation process
also clarifies what actions of the Company need to be taken to
maintain and improve the Board performance.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors has
completed the independence evaluation in the form of form-filling
individually.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules. Based on
specific enquiry of the Company’s directors, all directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) for securities transactions by employees who,
because of such office or employment, are likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Company or its securities.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company recommends directors to attend relevant seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All directors also
participate in continuous professional development programmes
such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals or
reading books and articles, to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. A record
of the training received by the respective directors are kept by the
company secretary of the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is summarised below:

FEERRE

RHPHEFZHBEERER  AARREZE
ESHEHBCEREUBRREERRSE
ZHBLEEE 2REENALERESR
EERFE WHAEMEEALAENR
O BEXREXFMEEARXE  UEE
HEFSLARMBERIREMNBE 2B K
et RESMEX ZIEBIIREAARRA
NAMEFE -

BE-P-MET-AS+—AILEE -
EEFFERHY 2 ERREHDIT

Number of training received
that are relevant to

the business or

directors’ duties

BT EREBSESEREZ
Name of director EEHE R B
Lai Pei Wor FEIE AN 2
Chan Yau Wah PR R EE 1
Mak Kwai Wing BELE 2
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph Ek 1
Pong Suet Hing RS 1

All the directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to participating any
suitable training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Mr. Tsang Wai Lun (“Mr. Tsang”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 3 May 2019. Pursuant to Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules, Mr. Tsang has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Executive
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Audit Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website (except Executive Committee) and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the current members of each Board committee
(except Executive Committee) are independent non-executive
directors, while all the members of the Executive Committee are
executive directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee currently comprises 2 executive directors,
namely, Mr. Lai Pei Wor (chairman) and Mr. Chan Yau Wah. The
Executive Committee shall meet as it may consider appropriate.

The duties of the Executive Committee are as follows:

(@) to monitor the execution of the Company’s strategic plans
and operations of all business units of the Company;

(b) to discuss and make decisions on matters relating to the
management and operations of the Company;

(c) to exercise the functions and responsibilities of the Board
between its regular meetings; and

(d) to review and discuss any other matters as may from time to
time be delegated to it by the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has complied with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules in
relation to the composition of the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3 members, all of
them are independent non-executive directors. The members of
the Remuneration Committee are Ms. Pong Suet Hing (chairman),
Mr. Mak Kwai Wing and Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings.
The attendance record of each Remuneration Committee member
is set out below:

el ESSh
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Attendance of Remuneration
Committee meeting in 2024

—E_NEHE
Name of director EEHE FTHMEESERAH
Pong Suet Hing (Chairman) RS (£/E) 1
Mak Kwai Wing BELE 11
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph Ek 11

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are
as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) to review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(d)

(e)

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration;

to review and sanction new or amended salary, incentive
bonus and retirement benefit policies for the Group which
are substantial in their cost and have an impact on a
significant proportion of employees; and

to review the Committee’s terms of reference and its own
effectiveness and recommend to the Board from time to time
any necessary changes.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations
to the Board on executive directors’ remuneration packages and terms
of employment. The Remuneration Committee also formulated and
evaluated the remuneration policy and structure for the directors and
senior management of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Remuneration Policy

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Directors and senior
management, is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and
involvement in the Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages
of Executive Directors are also determined with reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, the prevailing market
conditions and the performance or contribution of each Executive
Director. The remuneration for the Executive Directors comprises
basic salary, pensions and discretionary bonus. The remuneration
policy for Independent Non-executive Directors is to ensure that
Independent Non-executive Directors are adequately compensated
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Company's
affairs, including their participation in Board committees. The
remuneration for the Independent Non-executive Directors mainly
comprises Director's fee which is determined with reference to
their duties and responsibilities by the Board. Individual Directors
and senior management have not been involved in deciding their
own remuneration.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION BY BAND

Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management by band for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

B 4B B

Remuneration by band
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Number of individuals

AR A

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

#£21,000,00058 7T

Further particulars regarding directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

1,000,001/ 7L 21,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001/ 7L 2,000,000/ 7T
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has complied with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules
in relation to the composition of the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee currently comprises 1 executive director,
namely, Mr. Lai Pei Wor (chairman) and 3 independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Mak Kwai Wing, Mr. Li Yuen
Kwan, Joseph and Ms. Pong Suet Hing.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings.
The attendance record of each Nomination Committee member is
set out below:

REEE®
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Attendance of Nomination
Committee meeting in 2024

—E_NEHE
Name of director EEHE REZEEER Y
Lai Pei Wor (Chairman) A (L) 71
Mak Kwai Wing % 171
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph Ek 11
Pong Suet Hing ESH 71
The duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows: REZEGZBENT
(@) to review the structure, size and diversity (including but (a) ZLEBFRABEFHORE - ABR
not limited to age, gender, skills, professional and industry KEZTL (BRERETRRFR &
experience, educational background, knowledge and Al BEE - BERITELR ? BE
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make SHMBERBERSTE) E‘Hi
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to TTE@EAZ}S/“ﬂEﬁ”*ERWﬁT’éi%T%%@
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; ERMEBREER
(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members (b)) YEBAHEEEERAEEEEFNOA

of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(e) to review the board diversity policy, as appropriate and
the measurable objectives that the board has set for
implementing the board diversity policy, and monitor the
progress on achieving the objectives;

(f)  to review the Director Nomination Policy; and

(g) to review the Committee’s terms of reference and its own
effectiveness and recommend to the Board from time to time
any necessary changes.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. A diverse
Board will include and make good use of differences in the age,
gender, skills, professional and industry experience, educational
background, knowledge and length of service. These differences
will be considered in determining the optimum composition of
the Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately.
All appointments of the members of the Board are made on merit
against objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Diversity at all levels have been shown to improve retention and
reduce the costs associated with employee turnover. In a diverse
workplace, employees are more likely remain loyal when they feel
respected, valued for their unique contribution and the importance
of being able to attract, retain and motivate employees from the
widest possible pool of available talent. Employees are more likely
to feel comfortable and happy in an environment where inclusivity
is a priority. Equality in the workplace is important for encouraging
workers from all backgrounds to feel confident in their ability and
achieve their best. The Company are committed to diversity at all
levels, including gender, age, cultural and educational background,
or professional experience. The recruitment and selection practices
at all levels are appropriately structured so that a diverse range
of candidates are considered. The Company would identify and
provide the relevant professional training programs that will assist
in the development of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled
and experienced employees and that, in time, their skills will
prepare them for senior management and board positions.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Nomination Committee of the Company regularly reviews
and assesses the composition of the Board and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of new directors
of the Company. The Nomination Committee also oversees the
conduct of the annual review of the effectiveness of the Board and
will give adequate consideration to this Policy including gender
balance of the directors and senior management and their direct
reports, and its progress in achieving its diversity objectives.

Selection of individuals will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to age, gender, skills,
professional and industry experience, educational background,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected individuals will
bring to the Board.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one of the members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least 33% of the members of the Board shall be non-
executive Directors or independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(D) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(E) at least one of the members of the Board shall have more than
10 years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised in;

(F) at least one of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

The Board is committed to improving the diversity of the Board and
achieved the above objectives in 2024.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued) REZES#)
Gender Diversity Ve A4

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. ARQAIEREE S EREANIER Z Tl -
The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of TREHINEEAFHAPAEEE T (B
the Group, including the Board and senior management as at the BEELSAEEE) ORI G :

date of this Annual Report:

Female Male

e 54
Board = 20% (1) 80% (4)
Senior Management SREBRAEG 0% (0) 100% (2)
Management EIEAE 9.09% ) 90.91% (10)
Other employees HEMEE 66.32% (451) 33.68% (229)
Overall workforce BEEeT 64.90% (453) 35.10% (245)

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant & &% B4 5 bt 7l B9 5F 4015 B UA M AH B &

data can be found on pages 66 to 70 of the Environmental, Social ' B2 T _WNFIRE L2 hER
and Governance Report 2024. WENEE6ET0E °
DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY EEREEXE
1. Nomination and Appointment of Directors 1. EENRERER
(a) Criteria (a) 245/

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, EFERREREANETES

the following criteria should be considered: B THIRERIEHEEE

e Character and integrity. e MIREME -

e Qualifications including professional qualifications, e B BEFEXEBER K
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity O M#ERERREER
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are NEBAEENES UKk
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate EEgXEETILIBEM
strategy. Rl Z TR E -
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY (continued)

1. Nomination and Appointment of Directors
(continued)

(a) Criteria (continued)

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Hong Kong
Listing Rules and whether the candidate would
be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules.

Any potential contributions the candidate can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence and gender diversity.

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company.

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended
by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.

2. Nomination Process

(a) Appointment of New Director

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment
of new director and the biographical information
(or relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY (continued)
2. Nomination Process (continued)
(a) Appointment of New Director (continued)

(i) If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

(i) The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the
appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(iv) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder
for election as a director at the general meeting
of the Company, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
director at the general meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should review the overall contribution and service
to the Company of the retiring director and the
level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should also review and determine whether the
retiring director continues to meet the criteria as
set out above.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should then make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY (continued)
2. Nomination Process (continued)

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting
(continued)

Where the board proposes a resolution to elect or re-
elect a candidate as director at the general meeting, the
relevant information of the candidate will be disclosed
in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules
and/or applicable laws and regulations.

The appointment of new directors will be considered and approved
by the Board and all new directors are subject to re-election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment
and subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years pursuant to the CG Code.

Mr. Lai Pei Wor, Mr. Mak Kwai Wing and Ms. Pong Suet Hing
shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant
to the Company’s Bye-laws 85(1) and 85(2).

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors
standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

The Company’s circular dated 23 April 2025 contains detailed
information of the directors standing for re-election.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s auditor, Messrs. Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
(formerly known as Mazars CPA Limited) or its network firms is set
out as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

HK$

e ERER

Services rendered Frig it = R 3% BT
Audit services ZE R 969,000
Non-audit services (taxation and other services)  FFAZ &R (Fi 15 & H D AR 75) 103,000
1,072,000
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in
relation to the composition of the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee of the Company comprises three independent non-
executive directors. The current members of the Audit Committee
are Mr. Mak Kwai Wing, Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph and Ms. Pong
Suet Hing. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Mak Kwai Wing
who has appropriate accounting professional qualifications. Code
Provision D.3.3 stipulates that members of the Audit Committee
should meet at least twice a year with the Company’s auditors.
During the year, there were two meetings held between the
Audit Committee and the Company’s auditors. Besides, the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. During the year, the
Audit Committee held three meetings. The attendance record of
each Audit Committee member is set out below:

EREEE
ARARRERZEGZHEAKT BT ETR
AIE321FRE - ARAERZEENXE
M=RBIFMTESANX - BRIERZ
BevKEBRREERLEE FRHEE
LREERLZL -BERZEGIFEEERE
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D33GMRTE - ARBIMZBANREZEL B
ENNERELBFEEMA - NFEER -
ERZEGRARAIRBMZHEEIT TR
REFH - WIN BREZEGEFELENT
MRGH - AFERN  BREBECETT
ZREH-BRZEERMEBZHELE
mr

Attendance of Audit
Committee meetings in 2024

“E_NEHE
Name of director EEpE EREESERRY
Mak Kwai Wing (Chairman) BEE(EE) 3/3
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph ESy =] 3/3
Pong Suet Hing FBEER 3/3

The principal roles and functions of the Audit Committee include
the review of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
reporting process, risk management system and internal control
procedures. It also acts as an important link between the Board
and the Company’s auditors in matters within the scope of
the group audit. During the meetings held in 2024, the Audit
Committee had performed the following works:

(i) reviewed the directors’ report and audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
internal auditor or external auditor before submission to the
Board;

(i)  reviewed the interim consolidated financial statements for
the six months ended 30 June 2024;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(iii) reviewed the re-appointment of the external auditor and the
nature and scope of audits;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for approval by the board the
2024 audit scope and fees;

(v)  reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard;

(vi) reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control system; and

(vii) reviewed the Group's financial and accounting policies and
practices.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. The directors ensure the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group are in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The directors also ensure the publication of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is in a timely manner.

The statement of the Auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
55 to 60.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management and
internal control systems are designed for managing risks rather
than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee, has overall
responsibilities for maintaining effective risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. During the year, the Board
conducted a review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, covering
financial, operational, compliance control and risk management
functions. The Group’s system of internal control includes the
setting up of a management structure with limits of authority,
and is designed to help the Group achieve its business objectives,
protects its assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensures
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. After
reviewing the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, the Board considers that the systems are effective and
adequate for the Group as a whole. The Board further considers that
there was no material issue relating to the Group’s risk management
and internal controls systems including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions of the Group
and that there were adequate staff with appropriate and adequate
qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, and adequate training
programmes had been provided during the year.

The internal control team of the Company plays a major role
in monitoring the risk management and internal controls of
the Group and reports directly to the Audit Committee. It has
full access to review all aspects of the Group’s activities, risk
management and internal controls. All types of audited reports are
circulated to the Audit Committee and key management, which
will follow up on any actions and measures taken to improve risk
management and internal controls on the recommendations by the
internal control team.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarized as follows:

o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

o Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

(continued)

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place.

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the Audit Committee
and the Board regularly.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal
audit team, which reports directly to the Audit Committee and
the Board on a periodical basis. The team conducts internal
audit reviews on material controls and compliance with policies
and procedures of the Group at both operational and corporate
levels. Plans for corrective actions and control improvement are
identified and communicated with operations management to
address any issues, non-compliance or deficiencies identified. The
team monitors the implementation of its recommendations by the
operations management and reports the outcome to the Audit
Committee and the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

o The board of directors of the Company adopt the policy that,
in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its
shareholder value.

o The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio.

o The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute
dividends to the shareholders of the Company, subject to the
Articles of the Association of the Company and all applicable
laws and regulations and the factors set out below.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

o The Board shall also take into account the following factors
of the Company and its subsidiaries when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

financial results;
- cash flow situation;
- business conditions and strategies;
- future operations and earnings;
- capital requirements and expenditure plans;
- interests of shareholders;
- any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
o Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and
the Group and the conditions and factors as set out above,
dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board for
a financial year or period:
- interim dividend;
- final dividend;
- special dividend; and

- any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem
appropriate.

o Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
shareholders’ approval.

o The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of
cash or scrip or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate.

J Any dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert to
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group
discloses inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe
harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements or circulars are not false
or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through
the omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in
a clear and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both
positive and negative facts.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit Committee and,
in their absence, other members of the respective committees are
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings.

The 2025 Annual General Meeting (“AGM") will be held on 27
May 2025. The notice of AGM will be sent to shareholders at least
21 clear business days before the AGM.

To promote effective communication with shareholders, the
Company maintains a website at www.kpihl.com, where extensive
information and updates on the Company’s financial information,
corporate governance code and other information are posted and
available for public access.

BEERBEBARTES

REE B REEF LR GG _EHR AN
ME - AEEEGEVEANTHNERT
CERRANFEEARTHEE BRIFBHHE
EEEZLMEGIMRAEERNENZ 2
AHREAN AKREEAAREHEEERM
HER ERARZBEBYRE - HAXK
BRSBEARFAFTOREME - NZBE
AR BEIRAAREEZLHER
REBE AR R ESHBEK A E R
REAFEMSATBERIARENE
A TFEREAFTEMBEMRAARE
M- OB R FEO T2 E R - BIFE
FEUBRBEIAMREEMEE -

BEXH
REERRAT 2 BEX L EEE -

ERREREEZRE

ARFBERAGREFTERREHIBRE
Rpe BT FRULFHNZES
REZBEERBERZBGQZER  HE%Z
BEEIRRER EZ8825HKE
AR AE EEEREMA -

TECRF2REBFAEHER T A
FREA-ZTHABT BREAFACTEE
BRBRRERAFRERITHELI R+ —%
BRI R xBAN -

REARRAEBRRANBE  ARAR
Hitwww kpihl.com * FBARATISEE H
AARABEZHMBEER  CEERENK
HthERAREHE

BRHERZERERATF

—E-NEER




TEERBE
Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
Convening a special general meeting ("SGM")

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, any one or more
member(s) (including a recognized clearing house (or its nominees))
holding as at the date of deposit of the requisition in aggregate
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights (on a one vote
per share basis) in the share capital of the Company may also
make a requisition to convene a special general meeting and
add resolutions to the meeting agenda at the expense of such
requisitionist(s). Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionists themselves may convene a physical
meeting at only one location which will be the Principal Meeting
Place in accordance with the provisions of section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The requisition must specify
the purpose of the meeting, and must be signed by the relevant
requisitionist(s) and deposited at the head office of the Company
in Hong Kong.

If the requisition is in order, the company secretary will ask the
Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the requisition is invalid, the members concerned
will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be
convened as requested.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings other
than a Proposal for Election of Director

The following procedures are subject to the Company’s bye-laws,
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable legislation and
regulation:

1. The Company holds an AGM every year, and may hold a
general meeting known as a SGM whenever necessary.

2. Member(s) of the Company holding (i) not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all members having the
right to vote at the general meeting; or (ii) not less than 100
members, can submit a written request stating the resolution
intended to be moved at the AGM; or a statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
a particular general meeting.

3.  The written request/statements must be signed by the
member(s) concern and deposited at the Company’s
registered office at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal office at Units
2304-06, 23/F, Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung,
N.T., Hong Kong, for the attention of the company secretary
of the Company, not less than six weeks before the AGM in
the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and
not less than one week before the general meeting in the
case of any other requisition.

4. I the written request is in order, the company secretary will
ask the Board of the Company (i) to include the resolution in
the agenda for the AGM; or (ii) to circulate the statement for
the general meeting, provided that the member(s) concerned
have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined
by the Board sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses
in serving the notice of the resolution and/or circulating
the statement submitted by the member(s) concerned
in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the
registered members. On the contrary, if the requisition is
invalid or the member(s) concerned have failed to deposit
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the
said purposes, the member(s) concerned will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will
not be included in the agenda for the AGM; or the statement
will not be circulated for the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)
Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Members who have enquires about the above procedures or have
enquires to put to the Board may write to the company secretary
at Units 2304-06, 23/F, Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai
Chung, N.T., Hong Kong.

Note: The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address:  Units 2304-06, 23/F., Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road,
Kwai Chung, N.T., Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Chairman/Company Secretary)
Fax: (852) 2481 3098

Email: enquiry@kpihl.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law. Shareholders may call the Company at (852) 2276
3000 for any assistance.

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholder meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at a shareholder meeting will be taken
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after the shareholder meeting.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy.
The policy aims at ensuring Shareholders are provided with prompt
and equal access to information about the Company (including
but not limited to its financial performance, corporate goals
and strategies, significant developments, corporate governance
and risk exposure). The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and the
results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for
maintaining an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim
report and, where applicable, its summary interim report; (c)
a notice of meeting; (d) a circular; and (e) a proxy form. The
Corporate Communication of the Company will be published
on the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a
timely manner as required by the Listing Rules. Corporate
Communication will be provided to Shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities in both
English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a single
language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant
to the Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and
other documents (e.g. Bye-laws) on the Stock Exchange's
website in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

B RER ()

R R B AR BUR
AARHETHERBABRR - ZBREE
HERACR BE S R A F b EENE B A &)
MES (BRETRNREMBKERE - AFF
RABES EAER - AEERNTAR) -
EZgCRIBRBABRRNERIBFLL
PR ERTAWE -

ARABRYSEEERRERSED
HEWT :

(a) AAEEA
EFmBRAFAENIAABAIER
NEIBEL A T L AEEERE
FEABASERRDITENMEMAX
% BREETERR TR :
(a) EFEWME - FERBERBIRE
MBI RNA R BHERS (WEA)
(b)F B E R EFHFERS (@
) (&3 (d) Bk e £F
RERE - AR A FRASIE L
™ #5 Bl &9 AR TE 38 Bk 1 A Bk A AT A8
(www.hkex.com.hk) ° 2 al3@ 15 1%
REMBAMENR AP RXEER
RFEAFHIBERTNE—BE R
RELRERARGBESFNIEERLF
BA -

(b) HELTRRABLEREMI A

AR AR £ AR R R R OB 32 P
BUHETELASE(FEABES &%
TERR5F) REMX I (HlARE
AR -

BRHERZERERATF

—E-NEER




TEERBE
Corporate Governance Report

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.kpihl.com).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings
of the Company are primary forum for communication
between the Company and its Shareholders. The Company
shall provide Shareholders with relevant information
on the resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
Shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable
to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or required,
the Chairman of the Board and other Board members, the
chairmen of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of the
Company to answer Shareholders’ questions (if any).

Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited, via its online holding enquiry service at
srhk.vistra.com, or send email to is-enquiries@vistra.com
or call its hotline at 2980 1333, or go in person to its public
counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other
Matters to be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries
to the Board by email: enquiry@kpihl.com or by post to
Units 2304-06, 23/F., Riley House, 88 Lei Muk Road, Kwai
Chung, N.T., Hong Kong (For the attention of the Chairman/
Company Secretary).
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EENRGREBEAEHEFS

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the directors and senior management of the
Group are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Pei Wor, aged 68, is the chairman and managing director
of the Company. Mr. Lai was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 13 September 1996. He is the founder of the
Group and has over 43 years of experience in the industry. He
is responsible for the Group’s overall strategic planning, policy
making and financial management. He has been a director of Hi-
Tech Precision Industrial Limited since 1984, a director of HTP
Industrial Limited (formerly known as Hideki Electronics Limited)
since 1989, a director of Cokeen Development Limited and K. S.
(China) Electronics Manufactory Limited since 1990, a director of
K & P Group (Holdings) Limited since 1994, a director of Hi-Tech
Investment Holdings Limited and Hi-Tech Property Holdings Limited
since 1997, a director of E-Dotcom Limited since 2001, a director
of Hi-Tech (China) Investment Limited and FB(FIUNEFHRER
A] since 2002, a director of Mars Field Limited and a director and
legal representative of A ILTIEXKEFHPRAF since 2010 and
acted as a director of Technology Trends International Limited
since 2001 and a secretary since 2009. He has also been appointed
as a director of Sun Ngai Plastic Products Factory Limited, a director
of Hunpex Limited, and a director and legal representative of $£4H
ERBORINBR AR since 2013.
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EENREREBEAEHEFSE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Yau Wah, aged 66, is the deputy chairman of the
Company. Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 13 September 1996. He is also a general
manager in Hi-Tech Investment Holdings Limited. Mr. Chan joined
the Group in December 1990. He is responsible for the planning
and management in production activities. He holds a higher
diploma in production and industrial engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) and a diploma in management studies from the
Hong Kong Management Association. He has over 43 years of
experience in the industry. He has been a director of HTP Industrial
Limited (formerly known as Hideki Electronics Limited) and K & P
Group (Holdings) Limited since 1994, a director of K. S. (China)
Electronics Manufactory Limited since 1995, a director of Hi-Tech
Investment Holdings Limited and Hi-Tech Property Holdings Limited
since 1997, a director of Technology Trends International Limited
since 2001, a director of Hi-Tech (China) Investment Limited and
RE(FIN)EFER AT since 2002 and acted as a director of
E-Dotcom Limited since 2009. He has also been appointed as a
director of Sun Ngai Plastic Products Factory Limited, a director
of Hunpex Limited, and a supervisor of $RHZERF(RINAR AT
since 2013.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mak Kwai Wing, BSoc.Sc., ATIHK, FCPA (Aust), aged 75,
graduated from The University of Hong Kong with a degree of
Bachelor of Social Sciences. He is also a Fellow of CPA Australia
and an Associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr.
Mak was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 3 July 2017. Mr. Mak has over 42 years of
experience in the taxation field. In July 2006, Mr. Mak joined
Forvis Mazars Tax Services Limited (“Forvis Mazars Tax") (previously
known as Mazars Tax Services Limited) as an executive director,
was a managing director of Forvis Mazars Tax from January 2008
to August 2014 and was a Senior Advisor of Forvis Mazars Tax
from September 2014 to June 2017. Before joining Forvis Mazars
Tax, Mr. Mak was a tax principal at Ernst & Young and took early
retirement in January 2004. Currently, Mr. Mak is a member
of Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association.
Previously, Mr. Mak served as the governor of Rotary International
District 3450 and the Chairman of the Tax Specialization
Development Working Group of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. MAK served as an independent non-
executive director of Tianjin Development Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 00882) from 27 October 2009 to 21 June 2023, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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EENRGREBEAEHEFS

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph, aged 72, graduated from State
University of New York at Buffalo in the United States of America
and holds a bachelor of science in business administration degree.
Mr. Li was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company on 24 August 2005. After working in the business
sector for 9 years, he joined the Secretariat of Federation of Hong
Kong Industries in 1985 as an assistant director and in 1992 he
was appointed as a director of the Secretariat of Federation of
Hong Kong Industries from which post he retired in January 2005.
He has over 36 years experience in serving the manufacturing
industry of Hong Kong.

Ms. Pong Suet Hing, aged 71, is currently a director of Odyssey
Group (International) Limited, a human resources consultancy
company in Hong Kong. Ms. Pong is an affiliate member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Human Resource Management
(“HKIHRM"). She obtained the Professional Diploma in Human
Resource Management from the Hong Kong Management
Association in 2018 and obtained several certificates in connection
with Hong Kong employment law and an advanced certificate
in HR legal compliance from HKIHRM during 2016 to 2018. Ms.
Pong was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 30 April 2023. Ms. Pong has almost 20 years
of experiences in human resources and has served as consultant,
associate director, director and general manager in various
human resources consulting companies in Hong Kong to provide
recruitment, payroll, staff training, human resources solutions
and compliance services to corporate clients since 2003. Ms.
Pong also has vast experiences in the financial field. She worked
in several banks in Hong Kong for approximately 30 years from
1971 to 2003 and served positions including Department Head
— Branch Banking, Vice President and Manager, and Branch
Manager in retail banking with experiences covering management,
operation and compliance. She also worked with several wealth
management entities in Hong Kong where she had experiences
in sales of investment and insurance products and management.
She obtained the Professional Diploma in Personal Financial
Planning from Li Ka Shing Institute of Professional and Continuing
Education of The Open University of Hong Kong (now known as
The Hong Kong Metropolitan University) in 2003 and is a licensed
insurance intermediary of Insurance Authority in Hong Kong. Since
March 2023, Ms. Pong is an independent non-executive director
of Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1046).

BYFBTES @)

FMBLE - 7258 0 RENZBIKF A
ML KRBYRHBETIHERBE L8 -
FEER_ZTETAFNA_THRAEERE
BARBZBIIFNTES - KBIFNE
RItER B —NWN\EFEZERETRE
TRREMERZHEREIRN—ANZ
FREIRBEEIXLENERZIHE
BEE_TTHhF - ARE -REABEB36
FRBBABREXR 2R -

BEHZL BWE7T1R REBNRE
RARI(BEE—HBANDEREBBHAQR)
EFR-BERIAEBANEREES S
([HKIHRMD) B & 8 - BR =T —/\F I
BEBEEEEHTANEREEHREEN
B IR E—ARE_T—-\EHESE
FRAHKIHRME R BB B R A HEMNE
ERANERABEREE -BRELITHZ
T —FNA=Z+THEZTAAXRRRZHE
VHATEZ -RATRANERAESR
M-+ FERS BT =F1L KTHE
BEAZHEANERBHARETER - B
FEE EZERAKE ALETFRMH
B FHBIEN ANERERT
ERARRE BRI ESMANEGLE
BE R —NWE—E_TT=FNEB
ETEBTIEY =T FEEERTHT
HAEE  BlAHERERE  RBITH7L8E
S BHEE  SBRABATANK
BoBERINYEREETHHEEED
AT EHEREMRBERNLERS
AEALR BR _SE=ZFEEFBN
FAAZR(BRABTEHETRB) TSt
EEREABTEER  TAEBRE
XEERFERBRPNA -BZZTZ=F
— R ErTEEETFRE XV EER
RABIMBIYIENTES  Z2AROR
B 22X Fr AR £ (B AR5 - 1046) ©

BRHERERERAH

—E-NEER




EENREREBEAEHEFSE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wong Man Kit, aged 65, is the marketing director of precision
parts and components segment of the Group. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in 1984. He is responsible for the marketing and sales. He
has over 40 years of experience in the industry.

Mr. Li Kam Keung, aged 64, is the production manager of the
precision parts and components segment in Kong Hau factory,
Zhongshan. Mr. Li joined the Group in 1985. He is responsible for
the operation and management in production segment. He has
over 37 years of experience in the industry.

EREBAER
BEXBLEE 65 AEERBEBZTIHHEZ
MEBE - B ER— NN\ EMARE
B EEMEHEEMBEE FEEXERNRHE
BA0F A E ) TR/, ©

TR - 645 AREERTHAT
WO DB EEBEE o 3 AR
—ANEEMAKEE - KLY
BRER - REZNREAITEA LN T
Y18 -

K & P International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2024




The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries were the manufacture
and sale of precision parts and components (comprising keypads,
synthetic rubber and plastic components and parts). There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to
159.

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK4 cents (2023: HK8 cents) per ordinary share on Thursday,
10 July 2025 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members of the Company on Friday, 6 June 2025. This
recommendation has been incorporated in the financial statements
as an allocation of retained profit within the equity section of the
statement of financial position.

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS FOR ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 22 May 2025 to Tuesday, 27 May 2025, both dates
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 27 May
2025, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 May 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS FOR FINAL DIVIDEND

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Friday, 6 June 2025, both dates inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to qualify for the above final dividend of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 2 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, the global economy faced significant challenges due to
rising geopolitical tensions, protectionist policies and ongoing
tariff wars. These factors resulted in the economic anxiety and
uncertainty, leading to low consumer confidence. The European
market, being the major market for the Group’s top customers,
struggled to maintain low economic growth rates in 2024. Despite
these challenges, the Group managed to benefit from an increase
in customer order intake and the clearance of excess inventory by
the major customers in 2023. Hence, the utilisation of the Group’s
production facilities improved, which led to an improvement in
gross profit as compared to 2023. In addition, due to the high
volatility in the exchange rate of RMB, the Group early terminated
or closedout the forward currency contracts in April 2024. In
2024, the Group incurred loss of approximately HK$10.6 million
(2023: HK$16.7 million) in the forward currency contracts, which
included the loss due to maturity and early-termination of forward
currency contracts of approximately HK$1.0 million and HK$7.3
million respectively, and closed-out loss of approximately HK$2.3
million (2023: loss from maturity and outstanding forward currency
contracts of HK$6.9 million and HK$9.8 million respectively).

For the precision parts and components segment, the turnover
decreased by 5.0% to approximately HK$176.4 million as
compared with 2023. If excluded the above one-off early-
termination and closed-out losses of forward currency contracts
of approximately HK$9.6 million, the segment recorded a profit of
approximately HK$3.7 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

The gross profit margin of the Group in 2024 had increased by
6.8 percentage points to 20.6% as compared with 2023, which
the reasons had been discussed above. The selling and distribution
costs decreased by 4.3% to approximately HK$16.1 million,
while the administrative and other expenses decreased by 4.8%
to approximately HK$22.1 million. The financial costs decreased
by 35.9% to approximately HK$0.3 million, due to the decline in
financing activities.

FINANCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$176.4 million, representing a
decrease of 5.0% from the previous year. Overall gross profit
amounted to approximately HK$36.3 million, representing an
increase of 41.6% from the previous year. Loss attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$9.1 million (2023:
HK$26.1 million).

Basic loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
HK3.39 cents (2023: HK9.77 cents) per share.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporation that pays close attention to conserving natural
resources. We strive to minimize our environmental impact by
saving electricity and encouraging recycle of office supplies and
other materials. We also require factories operate in compliance
with the relevant environmental regulations and rules and possess
all necessary permission and approval from the relevant Chinese
regulators. Emails and electronic messages have replaced letters
for most formal and informal communications, both externally and
internally. Further details are set out in the environmental, social
and governance report which will be published on the Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited’'s and the Company’s websites.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries while the Company itself is listed on the Stock
Exchange. Our establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China,
Hong Kong and Bermuda. During the year ended 31 December
2024, we have complied with all the relevant laws and regulations
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Bermuda.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

Being people-oriented, the Group ensures that all staff are
reasonably remunerated and it continues to improve and review
and update regularly on its policies for remuneration and benefits,
training, occupational health and safety. The Group maintains a
good relationship with its customers. Customers are encouraged
to make recommendations with the aim of improving products
quality. The Group is in good relationship with its suppliers and
conducts a fair and strict appraisal of its suppliers on an annual
basis.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include
strategic, commercial, operational and financial risks.

Strategic risks

The Directors maintain a strategic plan together with a financial
budget at the end of each financial year based on their knowledge
to the external environments and a number of forecasts
and estimates. Given the change of unforeseeable external
environments in the industry, the Group is facing significant
strategic risks on its capital expenditures and working capital
requirements when changing the strategic plans to adopt the
unexpected changes of external environments.

Commercial risks

The Group is facing keen competition in the market. To maintain
the Group's competitiveness, the management uses cost leadership
strategy as well as diversifying its business strategy to tackle other
competitors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)
Operational risks

Management regularly reviews the Group’s operations to ensure
that the Group’s risk of losses, whether financial or otherwise,
resulting from fraud, errors, omissions and other operational and
compliance matters, are adequately managed.

Financial risks

The principal financial risks are set out in note 32 to consolidated
financial statements heading “Financial risk management
objectives and policies”.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 160.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year are set out in notes 25 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, before proposed dividend, calculated in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$20,972,819 (2023: HK$31,432,241) of which the payment
of HK4 cents per ordinary share was recommenced as final
dividend for the year (2023: HK8 cents). During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Company declared and paid an interim
dividend HK2 cents per ordinary share for the year and paid final
dividend HK8 cents per ordinary share for 2023. In addition,
the Company’s share premium account, in the amount of
HK$50,856,881 (2023: HK$50,856,881) may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND MAJOR SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for 45.4% of the total sales of the Group for the year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted
to 23.1%. Purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted
for 30.0% of the total purchases of the Group for the year and
purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to
8.0%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive directors

Lai Pei Wor
Chan Yau Wah

Independent non-executive directors

Mak Kwai Wing
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph
Pong Suet Hing

In accordance with bye-laws 85(1) and 85(2) of the Company’s
bye-laws, Mr. Lai Pei Wor, Mr. Mak Kwai Wing and Ms. Pong Suet
Hing shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Mak Kwai Wing, Mr. Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph and Ms. Pong
Suet Hing, the independent non-executive directors, are appointed
for a period of two years. The Company has received annual
confirmations of independence from Mr. Mak Kwai Wing, Mr. Li
Yuen Kwan, Joseph and Ms. Pong Suet Hing as at the date of this
report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 39 to 42 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024, and the contract can be terminated by either party
giving to the other not less than six months’ nor more than seven
months’ prior notice in writing.

Apart from foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
next forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board of the
Company with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

After consideration, the directors are of the opinion that no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significant in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company’s subsidiary was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity linked agreements into which the Company entered
subsisted at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests of the directors in the share
capital of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:
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Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROHE  SHORERME

Percentage of

Directly Founder of a the Company'’s

beneficially discretionary issued share

owned trust Total capital

HE 2ERFTEZ EARARE BT

Name of director EEgE EREAA RIHEA By RHzBEDE

Lai Pei Wor FREEH 36,988,000 *97,242,000 134,230,000 50.27

Chan Yau Wah PR 20,000 - 20,000 0.00

37,008,000 97,242,000 134,250,000 50.27

Note: MisE -

* Details of Mr. Lai Pei Wor's interests are set out in the section headed * TEEMEEZRZFHEN TIXZ [ EERE L

“Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
directors had registered an interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to director or chief
executives of the Company, the following persons or corporations
(other than directors or chief executives of the Company) who had
interests and short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
were as follows:

Long positions:
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Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROBE  SHREREE
Percentage
Through of the
Directly spouse or Company's
beneficially minor Beneficiary issued
owned children of a trust Total share capital
fEARRTE
E# (2N fFRZ BEATRE
Name #e BEBEA AREFL FHA - ARl
Celaya (PTC) Limited (Note @)~ Celaya (PTC) Limited ([f{ta) - - 97,242,000 97,242,000 36.42
Trident Corporate Services Trident Corporate Services - - 97,242,000 97,242,000 36.42

(B.V.1 Limited (Note b) (B.V.I.) Limited (fif5b)

Lai Yiu Chun (Note ¢) fBiRE (ko) 3,150,000 21,450,000 - 24,600,000 9.21
Lam Lin Chu (Note ¢) MER (B 22,434,000 2,166,000 - 24,600,000 9.21
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Celaya (PTC) Limited holds 97,242,000 shares in its capacity as trustee of
The Lai Family Unit Trust, of which all units are held by Trident Corporate
Services (B.V.l.) Limited in its capacity as trustee of The Lai Family Trust,
a discretionary trust of which the issue of Mr. Lai Pei Wor is discretionary
objects.

(b) The shares referred to herein relate to the same parcel of shares referred
to in note (a) above.

(c) Ms. Lam Lin Chu is the wife of Mr. Lai Yiu Chun, who is a brother of Mr.
Lai Pei Wor. Both Ms. Lam Lin Chu and Mr. Lai Yiu Chun are declaring
interests in the same parcel of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no person,
other than the directors of the Company, whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that
was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year, which constitute exempted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions under the Main Board
Listing Rules, are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS EHFTREEMKRX

No permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year, ZANEERARE QAW EHEAD T ER
or is in force at the date of this report, for the benefit of a then BEHFEZE (EmBADAFHEMIEL)
director or a director of the Company (whether made by the SHHEWBAREREEFHEES (MHEAR
Company or otherwise) or a then director or a director of its  BIEH) FIzE M A 2 ERF A BEFE o &
subsidiary (if made by the Company). The Company has arranged RFAIDLZHREREFEEENSRBE 2
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for HEEZEZNaHBEETRRE

the Directors and officers of the Group.

AUDITORS = E B

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited will retire as auditor of the Company at EEBEZEMESHFEAR QT ENAG
the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and a BT ZREBEFAE LRTUN —HERE

resolution for their reappointment as auditor of the Company will  HE AR S A 2 R #H =B N Ll AR
be proposed at such annual general meeting. BFERG FIER -

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD KREFS

Lai Pei Wor *FE

Chairman FELE A

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025 &EE T AF=-A=+—8
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of K & P International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of K & P
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the "Group”) set out on pages 61 to 159, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

HEAEBRZRERAAZERR
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matter described below
to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our auditor’s
report.

Key Audit Matter

ARESTEER

RRETFAERERMANZERHE - R
RUAMGE AR BRRNBIAR/EEN
EH - REEHENRMBABREAH
BHREAMMARAKRE  MAMATIEY
ZEFREHMBINER - ZMEEET
MERRBRRFIN RS FZr B8 T T
FIH o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit

Matter

RRETSEAMNET

Valuation of land and buildings

T REFZIGE

Refer to notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements

FREEE B ENEIR13

As at 31 December 2024, land and buildings held by
the Group were stated at fair value of HK$129,750,000.
Significant estimation and judgement are required to
determine the fair value of the land and buildings, including
the determination of valuation techniques and the selection
of different inputs in the models. Management has engaged -
independent professionally qualified valuer (the “Valuer”)
whose work has been relied on in the estimation of the fair
value of the land and buildings. Therefore, the valuation is
considered as a key audit matter because of the significance

of the judgement and amounts involved.
RZZE_WF+A=+—H EEEHAILHEEFUR -
FEEFIHR129,750,000/8 T - ERfEE RAE BIEETEH
HETENEEINRGABBZEXAET T RETFZA
FEE EEEDIIEBLIGEREXGERM ([EEM]) - I
FRAETERGT LMW EEFZAFEE - Bt - HEARHA -
BHHE R SREAEMEKE SERETFE -

EMNBFANAEEFERETSHE

Our key audit procedures over valuation of land
and buildings included:

BPE T RIEFEERELNBRETET
BIE

Understanding and evaluating management’s
key controls over the fair value assessment
process.
THREEERBRAFEENEBEN
RS IEH 50% ©

Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the Valuer.
G ER A BT - BN REE I -

Assessing the appropriateness of the
work of the Valuer by making enquiries
and considering the relevance and
reasonableness of key assumptions and
methods used, and the relevance and
accuracy of the source data used.

MG EME R AT EETENSETERE
BZEBRRBERNOEALRSEN KAN
FERFABER IR R ERE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2024 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Hib &R

ERREFAHEMENAT - HBEEHE
BRARB _Z_MFEFRAMBNER -
BRERGAMBRRRBEMEREHH
BN o

BPEGAMBERERNBRL TRER M
BR - BT EHZEHEMERNERE
R IR E SR ©
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TRABEBEMER  HHBRES  ZEH
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMRES RSB RRAEN
B
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T 7£ i BRRF 3 88 AR T 28 B0 BB K 8 AR Rt
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 21 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Chan Hiu Fun

Practising Certificate number: PO5709

BRBMRES RSB RRAEN
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Consolidated Income Statement

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—E-NE T =4
Notes HK$ HK$
B o BT BT

REVENUE A 5 176,428,588 185,786,572
Cost of sales SHE KA (140,115,928) (160,137,871)
Gross profit EF 36,312,660 25,648,701
Other income and gains N 5 4,095,532 5,026,310
Loss on financial assets/liabilities at ~ HAFEBET ABZE

fair value through profit or loss, CRMEE BEEHE

net FRE 15 (10,635,692) (16,703,738)
Selling and distribution costs B K7 4K 45 K 2N (16,075,035) (16,793,778)
Administrative and other expenses TR HEMER (22,115,715)  (23,224,000)
Finance costs & AR 6 (333,870) (520,757)
LOSS BEFORE TAX R Bt Al 85 18 7 (8,752,120)  (26,567,262)
Income tax (expense)/credit s (M) % 10 (303,954) 469,402
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EAREBAFERFE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 58

THE COMPANY (9,056,074) (26,097,860)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AARFEE AFGEER

TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 58

— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — BEARKRE#E GEL) 12 (3.39) (9.77)

BRHERZERERATF
“E_MEFH
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BE_T_WE+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—2omE —Fo=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEEE (9,056,074)  (26,097,860)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hitt2EEE
Items that will not be reclassified to BrEEHIEZTEZARZ
profit or loss: HHE :
(Deficit)/Surplus arising from revaluation T REBFEZEME (BR) B
of land and buildings (1,814,988) 2,470,856
Income tax effect e 2 275,814 (723,276)
(1,539,174) 1,747,580
Items that may be reclassified HEEHFIEZEEZARZ
subsequently to profit or loss: HE :
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINEBREELEY
foreign operations ME W, = FE (6,710,380) (4,781,289)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR REAXNFEHMEMR
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX il (8,249,554) (3,033,709)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR RATEBAFEREE
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2HBEARE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (17,305,628) (29,131,569)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

meE+=fA=+—H

At 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—E-NE T =4
Notes HK$ HK$
B o BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE k&G 13 176,370,789 192,445,519
Financial assets at fair value through 1R AP BEABZEZ SR
profit or loss BE 15 680,000 680,000
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 24 1,568,974 1,498,974
Total non-current assets EMENE E 4B ET 178,619,763 194,624,493
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories e 16 42,168,351 47,911,358
Prepayments, deposits and other FENRIE - BE R
receivables H b fE YR IB 17 4,321,223 4,281,268
Financial assets at fair value through &2 FBET ABZEY
profit or loss EHEE 15 2,158,722 -
Trade receivables JE I BE 18 18 34,654,395 35,895,370
Tax recoverable AT 4 B 5 58 1,053,270 600,219
Bank balances and cash WITHEBNIE S 19 67,166,721 100,355,497
Total current assets MENE ELE 151,522,682 189,043,712
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Financial liabilities at fair value BEAFEBETABREZ
through profit or loss THBE 15 4,381,614 8,045,759
Trade payables FE T BRIE 20 9,652,016 9,989,918
Accrued liabilities and other payables fE5t & & M £ b & 1~ 228 21 30,224,112 29,647,646
Interest-bearing bank and other ERRITRAMEE
borrowings 22 3,000,000 7,000,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 122,983 297,727
Tax payables JfE % 7 18 190,812 560,398
Total current liabilities B A ERGT 47,571,537 55,541,448
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 103,951,145 133,502,264
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BREERRBEE
LIABILITIES 282,570,908 328,126,757

BRHERZERERATF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (ontinued)

RZZE-_ME+-_R=+—H
At 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—E-E T =4
Notes HK$ HK$
B 2 BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 23 = 127,463
Deferred tax liabilities BEIERIBAE 24 26,817,130 27,092,944
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEBEABREKEZ
through profit or loss THBEE 15 = 1,146,464
Total non-current liabilities ERB B FEEET 26,817,130 28,366,871
Net assets EEFE 255,753,778 299,759,886
EQUITY E =
Share capital A% 25 26,700,480 26,700,480
Reserves #HE 26(a) 229,053,298 273,059,406
Total equity AR 255,753,778 299,759,886

F61HER1598 FTH N ELREWBRERER
TE-RE=A-t+—HBEE=EeHER
WERMG WA TIALTREESE

These consolidated financial statements on pages 61 to 159 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by

Lai Pei Wor Chan Yau Wah
FEIE A PR ZE
Director Director
EF o

K & P International Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

Share Asset  Exchange
Share premium  Contributed  revaluation  fluctuation Retained Proposed
capital account surplus reserve reserve profits  dividends  Total equity
BE Ed
ke RoRER  SAB#%  EREBE 0 RBEE  REEN EBRE  BREE
HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HKS
B BT BT B BT BT B BT
At 1 January 2024 RZE-MmF-F-H 26,700,480  *50,856,881 *660,651 *106,053,681  *(10,140,456) *104,268,265  *21,360,384 299,759,886
Loss for the year AEEBE - - - - - (9,056,074) - (9,056,074)
Other comprehensive loss for ~~ AEEEMREEE:
the year:
Exchange differences on BEBNEBRELL
translation of foreign EiZE
operations - - - - (6,710,380) - - (6,710,380)
Deficit arising from revaluation of ~ BRi& i RIEF
land and buldings, netof tax B[4 EE - - - (1,539,174) - - - (1,539,174)
Total comprehensive loss AERTEFELE
for the year - - - (1539,174)  (6,710,380)  (9,056,074) - (17,305,628)
Transactions with owners: EEANE2R S
2023 final dividend paid At -E-ZERERE
(note 11) (frsEn1) - - - - - - (2136038)  (21,360,384)
2024 interim dividend paid FH-E-mELRERE
(note 11) (1) - - - - - (5,340,09) - (5,340,09)
2024 final dividend proposed BE_E-MERERS
(note 11) (BrzE11) - - - - - (10,680,192) 10,680,192 -
Total transactions with owners — EEANETZR5LE - - - - - (16,020,288)  (10,680,192)  (26,700,480)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mET=R
=t-A 26,700,480  *50,856,881 *060,651 *104,514507 *(16,850,836)  *79,191,903  ¥10,680,192 255,753,778
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of @ RiZEMBRAERY EEREEEREFPFES
HK$229,053,298 (2023: HK$273,059,406) in the consolidated statement 4R A RE18229,053,298 8 L (Z T - =4 :
of financial position. 273,059,406/ 7T) °
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REERERHRw
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (ontinued

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

Share Asset Exchange
Share premium  Contributed  revaluation  fluctuation Retained Proposed Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve profits dividends equity
ke RHEER SRS EE REEE RE R BERS ERLE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT AT BT AT AT AT AT AT
At 1 January 2023 R-F-Z%-F-H 26,700,480  *50,856,881 *660,651 *104,306,101  *(5359,167) *157,066,605  *16,020,288 350,251,839
Loss for the year FEREER = = - = - (26,097,860) - (26,097,860)
Other comprehensive loss for ~—~ AEEEMREER :
the year:
Exchange differences on BRERNSBEELL
translation of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - (4781,289) - - (4781,89)
Surplus arising from revaluation of ~ B4 T RBFZ
land and buildings, netof tax ~ EftR# - - - 1747580 - - - 1747580
Total comprehensive loss REFREEREE
for the year - - - 1747580 (4781,289)  (26,097,860) - (29131,569)
Transactions with owners: HEEAETZRS:
2022 final dividend paid FA-E-—ERERE
(note 11) (B3E11) = = = = = - (16,020,288)  (16,020,288)
2023 interim dividend paid NZEZZE98RE
(note 11) (Ris11) - - - - - (5,340,09) - (5340,0)
2023 final dividend proposed B 5 ZFRERS
(note 11) (HzE11) = = = = - (21,360384) 21,360,384 =
Total transactions with owners ~~ BEAAET 2R 548 - - - - - (26,700480) 534009  (21,360,384)
At 31 December 2023 R-F-ZF+-R
=1-H 26,700,480  *50,856,881 *660,651 *106,053,681  *(10,140,456) *104,268,265  *21,360,384 299,759,886
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

T
HE-Z

mE+=—A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
—E-MF —F-=
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING & ZFEH2HERA
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 5 Bl B 1B (8,752,120)  (26,567,262)
Adjustments for: SR
Finance costs & A A 6 333,870 520,757
Bank interest income FRITH B HA (1,502,880) (1,958,029)
Depreciation of property, WE-—WE  BEIEKE

plant and equipment (BREREEEN)

(excluding right-of-use assets) 8,117,436 8,832,577
Depreciation of right-of-use assets e - FREEE 4,185,667 4,090,032
Fair value loss on financial assets/ BEATFEBEFABEEREZ

liabilities at fair value through SREE/BEATFERE

profit or loss, net 18 - JEZA 2,222,892 9,192,223
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of items HEWE BEMRKEZ

of property, plant and BE (M) w8

equipment, net 38,926 (142,180)

4,643,791 (6,031,882)

Net change in financial assets/ BRAFEEFTABREZ

liabilities at fair value through CREE/BEBEZFNE

profit or loss (9,192,223) (4,240,771)
Decrease in inventories FEZED 4,982,436 31,900,692
Increase in prepayments, deposits FEMNFIE - e REMmER

and other receivables E =y (114,385) (987,763)
Decrease in trade receivables & Y BR T8 7 R 1,091,164 21,773,330
Decrease in trade payables P& 1S BR I8 2 8 > 4,375 (5,066,992)
Increase in accrued liabilities and FitEENEMEMNRIEZ

other payables 3 40 999,202 (2,120,802)
Cash generated from operations REXBREEZE S 2,414,360 35,225,812
Interest received B F &2 1,502,880 1,958,029
Interest paid 252 (322,844) (498,714)
Interest element on lease liabilities HEAGEZF B (11,026) (22,043)
Hong Kong profits tax paid B EEFE fR (984,701) (1,551,960)
Overseas taxes paid B g N IE (207,710) (556,865)
Net cash flows from operating LEER) 2IME WA

activities — page 68 HE— $E68H 2,390,959 34,554,259

BRHERZERERATF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
ZEZmF —T-=
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt 5 BT BT
Net cash flows from operating iR SEE) 7 IS A
activities — page 67 FRE— 678 2,390,959 34,554,259
CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) REFHZRERA
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ()
Decrease/(Increase) in time deposits  #:E={& AR H T FE=H >
with maturity over three months S| (BB A0) 50,788,746 (5,572,125)
Purchases of items of property, plant BB ¥ % « HE &% E
and equipment (1,962,356) (4,556,104)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME HEREE
property, plant and equipment T8 218 2,326 162,946
Net cash flows from/(used in) B EFHZHE WA
investing activities R Y FE 48,828,716 (9,965,283)
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING RBEFE2RERH
ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid 2 A% & 27 (26,700,480) (21,360,384)
New unsecured revolving term HEKHEREARER
loans/trust receipt loans ZrEliE & 27 11,000,000 12,122,640
Repayment of unsecured revolving EBEREMEBREHER
term loans/trust receipt loans EE e 27 (15,000,000) (9,714,620)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEZHEaE 27 (293,845) (282,283)
Net cash flows used in financing BB EE) 2 IH S EEE
activities (30,994,325) (19,234,647)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RENESEZEERZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS 00 58 20,225,350 5,354,329
Cash and cash equivalents at FOzHEESRBESZMHEIER
beginning of year 49,566,751 45,318,524
Effect of foreign exchange rate PEREH) 7 &  SHEE
changes, net (2,625,380) (1,106,102)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FR2BESNESZEER
AT END OF YEAR 19 67,166,721 49,566,751
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a B R AR M EE

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

K & P International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered
office is located at Units 2304-06, 23rd Floor, Riley House, 88
Lei Muk Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) were manufacture and
sale of precision parts and components (comprising keypads,
synthetic rubber and plastic components and parts).

There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
land and buildings and financial assets/liabilities measured at
fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured
at revalued amount and fair value respectively. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2023 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out in note
2.2 to the consolidated financial statements. A summary of
the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group is set
out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

2.1

T
HE-Z

mE+=—A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

#HE

FoME+= A=+ ALFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses
and profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed
to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest determined at the date
when control is lost and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests at the date when control is lost.
The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the parent
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Any investment retained in the former subsidiary and any
amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are accounted
for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as
appropriate from the date when control is lost.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HK
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the
requirements by helping companies determine whether, in
the consolidated statement of financial position, debt and
other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should
be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled
within one year) or non-current. The amendments include
clarifying the classification requirements for debt a company
might settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be complied with
after the reporting date do not affect the classification of
debt as current or non-current at the reporting date. Instead,
the amendments require a company to disclose information
about these covenants in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5: Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

This interpretation is revised as a consequence of
Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure requirements to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance arrangements
and their effects on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to subsequently
determine lease payments arising from a sale and leaseback
in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The new
requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising
in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of a lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which
the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Annual Improvements Volume 11?2

to HKFRS Accounting

Standards
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
4 The effective date to be determined

The directors are in the process of assessing the possible
impact on the future adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs,
but are not yet in a position to reasonably estimate their
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is
presented within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of
the investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an
individual basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in
the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciation.

Land and buildings are stated at revalued amount, being
the fair value at the date of valuation less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Valuations
are performed frequently to ensure that the fair value
of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its
carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant
and equipment are dealt with as movements in the asset
revaluation reserve. Decrease in valuation are first offset
against increase on earlier valuations in respect of the same
asset and are thereafter charged to profit or loss. Any
subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss to
the extent of the deficit previously charged and thereafter to
revaluation reserve.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as
follows:

Land and buildings 2% 10 2.7%
Land lease premium 2.7%
Office premises 33.33%
Leasehold improvements 2.5% to 30%
Plant and machinery 10% to 25%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 30%
Motor vehicles 20% to 25%
Moulds 20% to 33.33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
On disposal of a revaluated asset, the relevant portion of
the asset revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a movement in
reserves.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of the lease.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, except for
leasehold land and buildings, which comprises

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

(c) any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of the
lease liability. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of
the lease term or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Group will exercise a purchase option — in which
case depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of
the underlying asset) as follows:

Office premises 3 years

Right-of-use asset related to leasehold land and buildings
where the Group is the registered owner of the leasehold
interest are carried at revalued amount, details of which is set
out under property, plant and equipment paragraph above.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement
date of the contract.

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable,
the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from
a change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee,
the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other
than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in floating interest
rates, the Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised
discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced
to zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement
of the lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining
amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if

(@) the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

24 EREBTEHERE ()

HE &)
1ERABEN (&)

WAERRERED AEA &SR
RAMRE EEMZEATRERK
SEERH LT (FRETHFE) $
BEHRRAEN REHE - 1
GRS DER Y Sk p i
B AEERE A SRR R BT

EHERE-

AEEBHERBZENTESRE
ROHEREEEZHE - WMERE
BEREERVCETZAREERGS
BE—THR - ARERSRBERPE
REMEHAEZRGEHE -

WHEBRATER  HEEHRAERE
BHEARK:

(a) &IEUEBEIM—IAZIA LHF
BEZERENMBEAEESR
P R

(b) HEREEMNZSBEHEENRER
AREEHE 2 EFHERLRRB
FEANZIBIMmE ZEBER
ETZEMEEHE -

BRHERZERERATF

—E-NEER




GLEMBHmRNE o
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

As lessee (continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of
the lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full
termination of the lease and recognising any gain or
loss relating to the partial or full termination of the
lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments
Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis, except for financial
assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL") which are accounted for on the settlement date
basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group’s contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) it neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control
of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory
FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI"”);
or (iv) measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset’s contractual cash
flow characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case
all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of
the first annual reporting period following the change in the
business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
bank balances and cash, trade receivables and deposits
and other receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING 24 EXRSHBERME ()
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) ¢RI AE)
Financial assets (continued) THEE (&)
Classification and measurement (continued) DR EE ()
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL"”) on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost. Except for the specific treatments as detailed
below, at each reporting date, the Group measures a loss
allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e.
the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life
of the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due
to an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the
entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i)  past due information

(i)  nature of instrument

(ili)  nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors
(vi) external credit risk ratings
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and
loss since initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss
allowance are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial instrument, except in the case of
Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value
reserve (recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group);
or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In particular, the following information
is taken into account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or
interest on the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external or internal credit rating
(if available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have or
may have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i)  the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations.

As detailed in note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, other receivables are determined to have low
credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without a significant financing
components or otherwise for which the Group applies
the practical expedient not to account for the significant
financing components, the Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date
and has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired include observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery
is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
lease liabilities. All financial liabilities, except for financial
liabilities at FVPL, are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting
would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held for
trading, financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at FVPL and financial liabilities that are contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies. They are carried at fair value, with
any resultant gain and loss (excluding interest expenses)
recognised in profit or loss, except for the portion of fair
value changes of financial liabilities designated at FVPL that
are attributable to the credit risk of the liabilities which
is presented in other comprehensive income unless such
treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. The amounts presented in other comprehensive
income shall not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain or loss is transferred
directly to accumulated profits or losses. Interest expenses are
presented separately from fair value gain or loss.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Classification and measurement (continued)

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)  incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or
not a designated and effective hedging instrument.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is currently enforceable legal right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of
manufacturing overheads. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business less
any estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been generally within three months of maturity
at acquisition, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For classification in the consolidated statements of financial
position, bank balances and cash represent assets similar in
nature to cash and which are not restricted as to use.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
internal and external sources of information to assess
whether there is any indication that its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets may be impaired or
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or
may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows
independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as
an expense immediately, except where the relevant asset is
carried at revalued amount in which case the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with the
accounting policy relevant to that asset.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately, except where the relevant asset
is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase in
accordance to the accounting policy relevant to the asset.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, when it is
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount provided is the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Group operates
and generated taxable income.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on all
temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

3 in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods

The nature of the goods provided by the Group comprises
sales of precision parts and components.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

(continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as
a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(a)

(b)

a good (or a bundle of goods) that is distinct; or

a series of distinct goods that are substantially the
same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the
customer.

A good that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of
the following criteria are met:

(a)

the customer can benefit from the good either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily
available to the customer (i.e. the good is capable of
being distinct); and

the Group’s promise to transfer the good to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good is
distinct within the context of the contract).
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good (i.e.
an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as)
the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the
Group satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the promised asset. In
determining when the transfer of control occurs, the Group
considers the concept of control and such indicators as
legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer
acceptance.

Sales of precision parts and components are recognised at a
point in time at which the customer obtains the control of
the promised asset, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is
passed.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, the contract is presented as a contract asset, excluding
any amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely, if a
customer pays consideration, or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good to the customer, the contract is
presented as a contract liability when the payment is made
or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is
the Group’s right to consideration that is unconditional or
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. Contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

For sales of precision parts and components, it is common for
the Group to receive from the customer the whole or some
of the contractual payments when the goods are delivered
(i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such transactions).
The Group recognises a contract liability until it is recognised
as revenue. During that period, any significant financing
components, if applicable, will be included in the contract
liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the interest
expense is eligible for capitalisation.
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Year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits in the consolidated
statement of change in equity, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and
declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance in Hong Kong for all of its eligible employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded
by entities in the Group at their respective functional
currency spot rates at the date of the transactions first
qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency spot rates of exchange at the end
of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the
consolidated income statement. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value is determined.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into Hong
Kong dollars, the presentation currency. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting
period and their income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at the average exchange rates.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the average exchange rates for the
year.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Inventories

The Group does not have a general provisioning policy
on inventories based on ageing given that the inventories
are not subject to frequent wear and tear or frequent
technological changes. However, as a significant portion of
the working capital is devoted to inventories, operational
procedures have been in place to monitor this risk. The
Group reviews the inventory ageing listing on a periodical
basis for those aged inventories. This involves comparison
of the carrying value of the aged inventory items with the
respective net realisable value. The purpose is to ascertain
whether allowance is required to be made in the consolidated
financial statements for any obsolete and slow-moving items.
In addition, physical counts on all inventories are carried
out on a periodical basis in order to determine whether
any allowance needs to be made in respect of obsolete and
defective inventories identified.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of investments and receivables

The Group assesses annually if investment in subsidiaries has
suffered any impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 and
follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 in determining whether
amounts due from these entities are impaired. Details of the
approach are stated in the respective accounting policies.
The assessment requires an estimation of future cash flows,
including expected dividends, from the assets and the
selection of appropriate discount rates. Future changes in
financial performance and position of these entities would
affect the estimation of impairment loss and cause the
adjustments of their carrying amounts.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment/
right-of-use assets, other than stated at revalued
amounts

Determining an appropriate amount of an impairment requires
an estimation of recoverable amounts of the relevant property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets or the respective
cash generating units (“CGU"”) to which the property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets belong, which is the
higher of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal. If
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the
recoverable amount shall be estimated for individual asset. If
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, the Group shall determine the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the relevant assets or the
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The discount rate represents rate that reflects
current market assessments of time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset or the CGU for which the future
cash flow estimates have not been adjusted. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected or there is
a downward revision of future estimated cash flows due to
unfavourable changes in facts and circumstances, an additional
impairment loss may arise. At 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no impairment losses have been recognised for property, plant
and equipment. The carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment other than those stated at revalued amounts were
HK$46,620,789 (2023: HK$52,526,519).

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024
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Year ended 31 December 2024

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of land and buildings

The Group’s land and buildings included in property, plant
and equipment are stated at their revalued amounts in
the consolidated statement of financial position, which
are assessed annually by management with reference to
valuations performed by independent professionally qualified
valuer. In determining the revalued amounts, the valuer has
based on the method of valuations which involve certain
estimates. In relying on the valuation report, the directors
of the Company have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuations is reflective of the
current market conditions. The carrying amounts of the land
and buildings at 31 December 2024 were HK$129,750,000
(2023: HK$139,919,000).

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade and other receivables by using various inputs and
assumptions including risk of a default and expected loss
rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty
which is based on the Group’s historical information, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying amount of trade and other receivables.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in note 32(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on its products and has two (2023: two)
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the precision parts and components segment comprises
the manufacture and sale of precision parts and
components comprising keypads, synthetic rubber and
plastic components and parts; and

(b) the corporate and others segment comprises the
Group's long term investments, together with corporate
income and expense items.

Management, the chief operating decision makers, monitors
the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for
the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment results, which is a
measure of adjusted (loss)/profit before tax from continuing
operations. The adjusted (loss)/profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax except
that bank interest income and finance costs are excluded
from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the cost of sales and are eliminated on
consolidation.

4.
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Year ended 31 December 2024
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& DBER (&)

Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-E-ME+-A=+t-HLEFE

Precision
parts and Corporate
components and others Total
BEEH4 BHREAM @t
HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
Segment revenue: 2EWA
Sales to external customers HOAEFPHE 176,428,588 - 176,428,588
Reportable segment revenue and DERERA R KA
revenue 176,428,588 - 176,428,588
Segment results REES (5,858,830) (4,062,300) (9,921,130)
Reconciliation: 8D -
Bank interest income RITF S WA 1,502,880
Finance costs BEKAR (333,870)
Loss before tax IR 25 i 5 1 (8,752,120)
Other segment information: Hi 2 EEH
Other income and gains/(losses) Hin A RIS/ (BiB) 2,706,044 (113,392) 2,592,652
Depreciation of property, plant and nE UM% BEER
equipment (excluding right-of-use (REEEEE)
assets) (6,982,700) (1,134,736) (8,117,436)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets e FREEE (557,986) (3,627,681) (4,185,667)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWNE  BMENLEKEZ
plant and equipment, net B (38,926) - (38,926)
Deficit on revaluation of land THREFERZBMETA
and buildings debited to other Hin2ERA
comprehensive income (46,848) (1,768,140) (1,814,988)
Lease payments under short-term EHHEERA AR REDHA
leases on office premises - (220,464) (220,464)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net 5 e/ (BR) 58 1,330,140 (113,393) 1,216,747
Capital expenditure BEARZ (1,952,416) (9,940) (1,962,356)
Loss on financial liabilities/assets at fair &2 AT EEFAEREZ &7
value through profit or loss, net BE/BEEE 8 (10,635,692) - (10,635,692)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

4, BETWER )

Year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-=F+-A=1—HItFE

Precision

parts and Corporate
components and others Total
REE M B A @t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Segment revenue: FEWA
Sales to external customers HINEPHE 185,786,572 = 185,786,572
Reportable segment revenue and DERERA R KA
revenue 185,786,572 - 185,786,572
Segment results PEEE (24,241,878) (3,762,656) (28,004,534)
Reconciliation: i
Bank interest income SRR SWA 1,958,029
Finance costs BB RN (520,757)
Loss before tax % %3 i E5 18 (26,567,262)
Other segment information: Hi 2 EEH
Other income and gains Hi A R M 2,989,901 78,380 3,068,281
Depreciation of property, plant and nE - 9% BELRX
equipment (excluding right-of-use (EmEEE)
assets) (7,756,313) (1,076,264) (8,832,577)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FE FRESE (562,911) (3,527,121) (4,090,032)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME « BE K&Ez Y
plant and equipment, net FE 142,180 - 142,180
Surplus/(Deficit) on revaluation of THEEFEG RS/
land and buildings credited/debited (Bgh) st A /G Em 2w
to other comprehensive income l@N 2,852,273 (381,417) 2,470,856
Lease payments under short-term EHHEERAE HEFE
leases on office premises - (203,544) (203,544)
Foreign exchange gain/(loss), net X/ (BE) 38 1,048,424 (85,708) 962,716
Capital expenditure BRREX (4,538,510) (17,594) (4,556,104)

Loss on financial liabilities/assets at fair RALEBES ABZEZ SR

value through profit or loss, net

AE/EEFR FER

(16,703,738) = (16,703,738)

BRHERZERERATF

“E_MEFH




GLEMBHmRNE o
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& DBER (&)

Information about major customers FEEFEHR
Revenue from external customers contributing 10% or REBEZHE, B2 BRAGEEREE
more of the total revenue from Group’s precision parts and B A10% 3k A ERVEONE B an -

components segment are as follows:

2024 2023

—E-MF —E=F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Customer A ZEA 40,716,620 43,214,506
Customer B = 5B —* 28,917,208

40,716,620 72,131,714

= This customer individually contributed less than 10% of the total @ B RI%= P &R DR & BARE A LA A
revenue of the Group during the year. f10% °
Geographical information i & & R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) #HIPEFKA
2024 2023
—E-MF ZTEZ=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong B8 4,977,110 5,942,109
Mainland China R B K 16,008,480 14,205,598
Japan and other Asian countries B 2 B H At 55 M B R 93,501,704 102,184,806
North America SIS 32,007,629 29,558,019
South America B =M 199,029 2,360,395
Europe BN 25,658,416 24,352,185
Other countries HAth B K 4,076,220 7,183,460
Total revenue Uy A 176,428,588 185,786,572
The revenue information above is based on the PA YA B EHIR R B AT e i % 2
geographical location of the customers. Do
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. K& DEER (&)

Geographical information (continued) wEEHR (F)

(b) Non-current assets (b) FETREEE
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong BB 59,184,092 64,957,644
Mainland China R B K 117,071,777 127,084,586
Other countries H B R 114,920 403,289

176,370,789 192,445,519

The non-current assets information above is based on A EIEREEEERHEEETAE
the geographical location of assets and excludes the HEE S  ETRIERAFEE
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and FTABERR SREERELER
deferred tax assets. BEE °
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

WA~ B AR WS

WAEAEFEAHREEMNERFE
MBREREREZHH -

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discounts, during the
year.

AEEWA - B A R Was iy o4

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is

as follows: N
2024 2023
—E_MEF —_E-=
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from contracts with ERMBEREER
customers within the scope of ISR EER
HKFRS 15: REEFEHNZWA :
Sale of goods EmiEE 176,428,588 185,786,572
Other income and gains: H A A R Utz :
Bank interest income calculated using  $R1TH B YA - 1R BB F| =&
the effective interest method FiAE 1,502,880 1,958,029
Tooling charge income NN 94,210 68,728
Sale of scrap BERLEHE 353,595 136,178
Sale of samples SmiH s 903,698 1,720,203
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE MERZEZ
plant and equipment, net Wam - HEE = 142,180
Exchange gain, net b 5 e - 3R 1,216,747 962,716
Others Hth 24,402 38,276
4,095,532 5,026,310
Total revenue, other income B > H A R Wz
and gains 180,524,120 190,812,882

RNEGHERAZRACHEBERFENZ
EHMBER1,814,767T8 T (ZE ==
£ 13,134,372/ 7T) ©

The amount of revenue recognised for the year that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the year
is HK$1,814,767 (2023: HK$3,134,372).
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BE_Z_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

FINANCE COSTS 6. RERAE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BMEXANITAT :
2024 2023
—ESE-NE —E =%
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RAEFEANEEZHRITERL
wholly repayable within five years BT B 322,844 498,714
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 23) HESEF S (MzE23) 11,026 22,043
333,870 520,757
LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBIATEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after AEBERBATEBRLEMBR, (GTA) -
charging/(crediting):
2024 2023
—E_MFE —E=-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Staff costs (including directors’ ETRX(BHEEEHE
remuneration — note 8)*: — B 5E8) # :
Wages and salaries TENSS 66,769,812 67,318,374
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRTEFIET B K
schemes 10,863,485 9,903,656
77,633,297 77,222,030
Cost of inventories sold DEFERAN 140,115,928 160,137,871
Auditor’s remuneration % SN B & 870,000 880,000
Depreciation of property, plant and WE-—W% BMENMZE
equipment (excluding right-of-use (REREEE)"
assets)* 8,117,436 8,832,577
Depreciation of right-of-use assets* e FTREEE! 4,185,667 4,090,032
Foreign exchange gain, net &5z FRE (1,216,747) (962,716)
Lease payments under short-term REHESERAE 2 HERIE
leases on office premises 220,464 203,544
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of items of HEME BMELZEZER
property, plant and equipment, net (Wz=) @ FE58 38,926 (142,180)
Sales commission HEMS 1,631,798 1,868,432
5 The staff cost amounting to HK$60,116,475 (2023: g ANEE 2 B8 IHX%60,116,4757%8

HK$55,798,960), depreciation amounting to HK$8,051,781 (2023:
HK$8,769,988) for the year are included in “Cost of sales” in the
consolidated income statement.

gt (ZZ = =4 : 55,798,960/ T) *
#r & 788,051,781 BT (Z B - =4 :
8,769,988 L) E D Al B & iR E T
BRZIMEERAIRA -
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

8. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules and the Companies Ordinance, are as follows:

(a) Director's emoluments
(i) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

8.

FRESEENER

RIR_ET R EBE R FHEDIFT R E
BEZEEMEMT
() EEME
() BUHFHTEE
AERE RN TEILIEH

directors during the year were as follows: TESZEZ2H08S
2024 2023
ZEZNF —T=F
HK$ HK$
B JT BT
Kung Fan Cheong HLESE - 111,312
Li Yuen Kwan, Joseph = 333,936 333,936
Mak Kwai Wing BEL 333,936 333,936
Pong Suet Hing EEE B 333,936 223,552
1,001,808 1,002,736

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2023: Nil).

AERALEEN TIEBL
FRTESTZHMHE (=
T_=F:E) -
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8.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (continued)

(a)

Director’'s emoluments (continued)

e MBHRRME

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

T
HE-Z

mE+=—A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

8. FHEEENEN W

(a) EEME (@)

(ii) Executive directors (i) BITEE
Contributions
to retirement
Discretionary benefit Other Total
Fees Salaries bonus schemes allowances remuneration
BAER
we ¥ RiE®a R H 2 e a5H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS HK$
BT BT B B B BT
2024 —E-_NE
Executive directors, ~ #H{7EZ :
Lai Pei Wor B - 2,380,865 - - 35,878 2,916,743
Chan Yau Wah RRE - 814,320 - - 23,303 837,623
- 3,695,185 - - 59,181 3,754,366
2023 —E-=
Executive directors: HIES:
Lai Pei Wor B - 2,880,865 - - 53,352 2,934,217
Chan Yau Wah BRE - 836,940 - - 57,412 894,352
- 3,717,805 - - 110,764 3,828,569

(b) Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in

(c)

favour of directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors of the Company that were
entered into or subsisted during the year (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interest in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

After consideration, the directors are of the opinion
that no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company or a connected entity of the director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year (2023: Nil).

(b) NEERZRAZER %

(c)

BERREMRS

RRABRAFERNILJEET L3
FENEFRTRAZER %
EARRMR S (ZF=4
K

BEERRE RHEIENZ
BERES

KEEE  BERARAFER
SN B N RS RE  IERE
AREHWER—H BEARRER
ZEARS  BHERAHAARR
RESNEECHETRNEF
BEEESMEZEA#EZR (=
T_=—F 8|, o

BRHERZERERATF
“E_MEFH
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 9. EUBSEHES
The five highest paid individuals during the year included $¢ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁ$ﬂ%§@%ﬁﬂﬁ(:
two (2023: two) executive directors, details of whose T_=F WMU)RATES FBED
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the PR EXFES e A T = (ZE ==
remuneration of the remaining three (2023: three) non- F: =) BRaFcdEEREEZH
director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: B 5 R AT ¢
2024 2023
—E-MmE —T_=%F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Basic salaries, allowances and EXEe  EBR
benefits in kind =R 3,596,970 3,596,970
Contributions to retirement benefit RRAE I ETEI R
schemes 36,000 36,000
3,632,970 3,632,970
The remuneration of non-director, highest paid employees is Em L EEFREE 2T M ATE AR
within the following bands: mR

Number of individuals

EE A"

2024 2023

“EZNEF —F_=F%F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 #%1,000,0007 7T 1 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,00078 7T 1 1
3 B
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no HE_Z_NGER-_FT_=F1+=H
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid =+—HIlk WEENTASE RN
individuals and other directors, as an inducement to join or e EEMEMESZHMEIE -
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. {EAW S| E pn B AL E o pn B2 18 Ay 58
In addition, during the years ended 31 December 2024 and BisiBEBE - R 22—

2023, no directors waived any of their emoluments. FERZFZ_=F+-_HA=+—Hit"

WEEEHRETMHMH -
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10.

e MBHRRME

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

INCOME TAX

The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the
“Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime was signed and gazetted. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying group entity are taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of other group
entities in Hong Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Taxes on assessable profits outside Hong Kong have been
provided on the estimated assessable profits for the year, in
respect of the Group’s operations outside Hong Kong, at the
rates of taxation prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

10.

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

BBt

ZE—LEBBUER) (B75) &6
BR(MEBIEZR]) 3| AFIB T EM R
Hl 2 2 FT R TIE - REBEFGFHERR
Hl BEREEEEEH2,000,000%5 7T
2B MG IR T R8.25% Bl - M iR B
2,000,000/ 7T 2 i M i & E 16.5%
R TREFIEREMLSH 2 EE
B GMNBEERSGE —FE16.5%
R ©

FRBEINERT S MRS M AF
EEFERBFEMNERIEAREERLE
BIMSERMHARIERE ZE B R
Bt e

2024 2023
—E-E = =
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Hong Kong: NE— B :
Charge for the year INCI - 135,149 159,997
Over provision in prior years FFEHEERE (61,148) (29,996)
Current — outside Hong Kong: NE— BB
Charge for the year AKEEFTH 244,617 170,742
Under provision in prior years TETEEME 55,336 29,855
Deferred taxation: IRAERIA -
Origination and reversal of temporary % i {4 2= 8 ) = A4 % %5 [0)
difference 1,498,974 (800,000)
Benefit of tax losses recognised BERERBIEEE RS (1,568,974) -
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year ZAREEHIBELAFR L (ER) 303,954 (469,402)

BRHERZERERATF

—E-NEER
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to loss
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are operated
to the tax expense/(credit) is as follows:

. FRB® (7

RREBNARAREXRZHINE R
ARENRDERR KRB AR A

EREFTH Hjﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬂi/(ﬁ%)iﬁi

BIERX, (Ee) 2BAHOT :

2024 2023
ZEZNF —_F_=F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Loss before tax BT AT E 1R (8,752,120)  (26,567,262)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% &% E 5 £16.5% 2 5118
(2023: 16.5%) —E =14 :16. 5%) (1,444,100) (4,383,598)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits FERERRS 22
tax rates regime (21,975) -
Effect of different rates for companies A B & & A H {th 5 AR = &)
operating in other jurisdictions TRAFERZZE 80,058 85,704
Income not subject to tax NEABT 2 WA (277,244) (405,966)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR HUR R TE 2 2 1,060,405 1,035,521
Unrecognised temporary differences AERZERE=ZRE 696,877 1,065,211
Utilisation of previously unrecognised  Z) A AR RFER 2 Fi 18 & 18
tax losses (184,958) =
Over provision in prior years FFEBEEE (5,812) (141)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 FIEE 18 150,250 2,095,916
Others Hb 250,453 37,951
Tax expense/(credit) for the year AEEREBERAYX (ER) 303,954 (469,402)
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

11. DIVIDEND 11. BE
2024 2023
—E-EF =
HK$ HK$
7 JT BT
Attributable to the current year: RAFE MG
Proposed final dividend — HK4 cents ERAHKE - FiREER
(2023: HK8 cents) per ordinary share 4%l (=T = =4 : 8#1l) 10,680,192 21,360,384
Interim dividend paid — HK2 cents SR HEE -SRERRK
(2023: HK2 cents) per ordinary share 28l (=T = =4 : 2/81l) 5,340,096 5,340,096
16,020,288 26,700,480
Attributable to the previous years, REAIERINUEFE
approved and paid during the year: Fir{h
Final dividend — HK8 cents RER B — FE B RS
(2023: HK6 cents) per ordinary share —E-=%F:6m1l) 21,360,384 16,020,288
The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the REERBRARSBFARRRNK
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming REFRE A& FAEE - 1B
annual general meeting. This dividend has not been BERMEMRTABERRBEE -

recognised as liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 12. RRABEEBAFIEER

OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on
the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share are

BiR
BREAREEERIREARAE
BEAMEASEBEREAFEAND H
TTIREFYEBREBHE -

BREANEEERDREBEATAHE

based on:
2024 2023
—E_UF —_E-_=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss EiE
Loss attributable to owners of the RARBEA AFTEEE
Company used in the basic and diluted FARFEFRER K
loss per share calculation: s E1E 9,056,074 26,097,860
Shares % 4
Weighted average number of ordinary — ZN4E[E A B 21T 2 MNHE
shares in issue during the year used TREE ARETE
in the basic and diluted loss per share &A% E 7 K 258 E5 18
calculation 267,004,800 267,004,800

A EBEE#HEN LB R
THER _E - =FHEBREANEIR
HEREEEEER -

As there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares, diluted
loss per share was the same as basic loss per share in 2024
and 2023.
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ - BERXE
Furniture,
fixtures
Land and Leasehold  Land lease Office Plantand  and office Motor

buildings ~ improvements premium premises  machinery  equipment vehicles Moulds Total

1HEE G- RER
THREF HEXE ER $AZ  BEREE BOZRE hE KR &it
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

31 December 2024 “E-METZA=T-A

Reconciliation of carrying HZE=F=m%
amount - year ended tZA=t-AL
31 December 2024 FEREFERG

At1 January 2024 RZZ2-mE-A-A 139,919,000 26,663,376 9,427,195 401819 14,192,417 1,365,274 476,438 - 192,445,519
Additions RE - 111511 - - 713,709 133,470 - - 1,962,356
Disposals i & - - - - (36,801) (995) (3.456) - (41,252)
Depreciation ik (6,224,308)  (2,441,758) (278,048) (279,939)  (2,671,818) (362,434) (64,798) - (12,303,103)
Deficit on revaluation SRR

debited to other HEfp2EkA

comprehensive income (1,814,988) - - - - - - - (1,814,988)
Exchange realignment ERA% (2,129,704) (945,010) (258,000) (7.851) (479,401) (41,718) (16,059) - (38711183)

At 31 December 2024, R-B-mE+-A=+-R"
net carrying amount RAFE 129,750,000 24,391,785 8,891,147 114,029 11,718,106 1,113,597 392,125 - 176,370,789

At31December2024:  R=E-ME+=f=1-A:

Cost or valuation A E 129,750,000 57,600,346 14,896,208 1,205,977 57,343,362 24,539,506 4,876,958 37,622,977 327,875,334
Accumulated depreciation 2 ER

and impairment loss HEER - (33,208561) (6,005,061  (1,131,948) (45,625256) (23,425,909)  (4,484,833) (37,622,977) (151,504,545)

Net carrying amount EEFE 129,750,000 24,391,785 8,891,147 114,029 11,718,106 1,113,597 392,125 - 176,370,789

Analysis of cost or BASHEE N

valuation at 1 : 3

31 December 2024: +=A=1-R:

At cost HA - 57600346 14,896,208 1245977 57343362 24539506 4,876,958 37,622,977 198,125,334
At valuation fhiE 129,750,000 - - - - - - - 129,750,000

129,750,000 57,600,346 14,896,208  1,245977 57343362 24,539,506 4876958 37,622,977 327,875,334

BRHERZERERATF

—g-—mesg W19




e BRI E @
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

BE-F-_ME+-A=+—AILFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. % - BMERSKE &)

Furniture,
fixtures and
Land and Leasehold ~ Land lease Office Plant and office Motor
buildings  improvements premium premises machinery ~ equipment vehicles Moulds Total
THEE i 2R
THREF HE%E Ef #RZE  BREREER HOERE e KA @t
HKS$ HKS HK§ HKS HKS HKS§ HKS HKS HKS§
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2023 Z3=F+ZR=1-A
Reconciliation of carying ~ HZE-E==%
amount - year ended T-A=+-HL
31 December 2023 FEEEFERS
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=£-f-H 144,972,000 27,044,875 9,911,164 675,367 17,028,315 1,573,917 112,779 - 201318417
Additions RE - 2,615,727 - - 1,362,023 208,368 369,986 - 4,556,104
Disposals hrk-3 - - - - (18,067) (2,699) - - (20,766)
Depreciation il (6,075,854)  (2,276,161) (283,474) (279,438)  (3,629,899) (377,783) - - (12,922,609
Surplus on revaluation ERRRTA
credited to other Ep2EHA
comprehensive income 2,470,856 - - - - - - - 2,470,856
Exchange realignment EXAE (1,448,002) (721,065) (200,495) 5,890 (549,955) (36,529) (6,327) - (2956,483)
At 31 December 2023,
net carrying amount 139,919,000 26,663,376 9,427,195 401819 14,192,417 1,365,274 476,438 - 192,445,519
At 31 December 2023:
Cost or valuation 139,919,000 58,174,816 15,296,208 1,260,101 59,157,874 24,668,618 4991550 37,622,977 341,091,144
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss HEFE - (315114400  (5869,013) (858,282)  (44.965457) (23303344)  (4515,112)  (37,622,977) (148,645,625)
Net carrying amount EAFE 139,919,000 26,663,376 9,427,195 401819 14,192,417 1,365,274 476,438 - 192,445,519
Analysis of cost or valuation A3, fE A
at 31 December 2023: R-E-=%
tZA=t-R:
At cost A - 58174816 15,296,208 1,260,101 59,157,874 24,668,618 4991550 37,622,977 201,172,144
At valuation it 139,919,000 - - - - - - - 139,919,000
139,919,000 58,174,816 15,296,208 1,260,101 59,157,874 24,668,618 4991550 37,622,977 341,091,144
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The Group’s land and buildings were revalued at the end
of the reporting period by Migo Corporation Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuer. The land and
buildings in Hong Kong were revalued on the basis of
market value by the comparison approach, based on their
existing state, while the buildings in Mainland China were
revalued using the depreciated replacement cost method.
No changes were made in the valuation technique(s) during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. A surplus
arising from revaluation on the buildings in Mainland China
of HK$278,332 (2023: HK$3,712,736) and deficit arising
from revaluation on the land and buildings in Hong Kong of
HK$2,093,320 (2023: HK$1,241,880) have been credited/
debited to other comprehensive income.

Had the Group’s land and buildings been carried
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, their carrying amounts would have
been included in the consolidated financial statements at
approximately HK$49,474,000 (2023: HK$52,845,000)
with the original currency of HK$13,696,000 and
Renminbi (“RMB")33,753,000 (2023: HK$14,397,000 and
RMB34,952,000).

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

13. W% BMERSKE#)

AEBZ L RIEFRFE BRH
BUEXAERGBEMESTER
PEIEHHE - BB L RIEFIRL
BEHAANMBEAERRENRILE
b MPBRKEMNEFIRTESE
RAEEG BE_Z_MNER_-ZF
—=F+=-_A=+—HLFER &
BAEEA AN EIEHEMES) - B L
MABEANENEFHEMEENE
HAB#M2783NB L (ZTE=Z=F:
3,712,736/ 70) R BB L REF (4
{8 ifn 2= A #) & 14 &5 182,093,320/8 7T
—T-=%:1,241,88087T) 25t A
SHBREMEEKA -

B R ETF DR A AR
R ERBERBIENE  EEMA
BEEFAGETBHREYT  H&8
#4949,474,0008 L (& = = &F :
52,845,000 L) r HREBE A
13,696,000/ JT }33,753,000 A & &
([ARE ) (ZE==4%:14,397,000
78 7T 534,952,000 A R#)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets RIBAEERNUEREEER
by class of underlying assets is as follows: EFEITAT
2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=
Notes HK$ HK$
Bt BT 7B TT
Leasehold land and buildings fhEARBEANEE
held for own use, carried at 43 RAETF - EIER
valuation, with remaining lease FEH4 (=T ==4F
terms of 24 (2023: 25) years :25) £ ¢ (i) 59,100,000 64,821,000
Land lease premium T EER (ii) 8,891,147 9,427,195
Office premises WAE (iii) 114,029 401,819
Net carrying amount REFE 68,105,176 74,650,014
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

13. 1% BERRE @)
() EREREE#®)
RER - BFEEREAE -

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(@) Right-of-use assets (continued)

No addition of the right-of-use assets was recognised
during the year.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases BN EmERNEENR XA
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: SRR U
2024 2023
ZEZNF —ZT=-=
HKS$ HK$
7B T I
Depreciation charge of right- RIEEEEREMEER
of-use assets by class of HEEMNTEER :
underlying asset:
Leasehold land and buildings HE T NREF 3,627,680 3,527,120
Land lease premium THHAEER 278,048 283,474
Office premises WRE 279,939 279,438
4,185,667 4,090,032
Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set HESE 2 HR DT FIFERER

out in note 23 of the consolidated financial statements. BB RERMFE23 -

(i) Leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

() BANHEELHBREF

ARBEEE - EEEET
EREEEZA - ARE
RS (2R
PRED BB E S+
) MBREAA © FZA
B M A B i 2
ZHERESIN  BER
I 4 420 22 0 i L 3 4
B BB I 48 A (7 4R B
HEARBEREL
- AMBUTHIERE
0 {5 T 3 RE B B
SRS B

The Group holds a commercial building for its
daily operations. The Group is the registered
owner of the property interest, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Payments were made upfront to acquire this
property interest from previous registered owners
and there are no ongoing payments to be made
under the terms of the land lease, other than
payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the
relevant government authorities.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Land lease premium

The land lease premium represents the interests
in leasehold lands held which are situated in
Mainland China with the remaining lease terms of
24 to 29 years (2023: 25 to 30 years).

Office premises

The Group has obtained the right to use a
property as its office premises through a tenancy
agreement. The lease term is 3 years.

Restrictions or covenants

Most of the leases impose a restriction that, unless
approval is obtained from the lessor, the right-of-
use asset can only be used by the Group and the
Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the
underlying assets.

For lease of property, the Group is required to
keep the property in a good state of repair and
return the property in its original condition at the
end of the lease.

Residual value guarantees

The Group does not provide residual value
guarantees for the lease contract of office
premises.

e MBHRRME

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

T
HE-Z

mE+=—A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

13. W% BMERSKE#)
(a) EHEEE &)

(ii)

(iii)

T HEHEEH

THHEEBREMLRF
B REREN LS -
MEHSEERR - THE
—TtHtAF(ZFE==F:
ZHRE=FF) -

HAZE
AEEERMEARER
—EMEERREZR
mEEHR=%F-

IR ] & R4

ARBLHEHERE — B
BRI BRIFES LA AL
e BRIEREREERE
REUBAARKEER X%
EAREELEXNEIREH

IMAEYMEHEEMS -
AEBEBER/PREYER
RFERIFOBENRR A
REEEREERAE
EOERERAGARE

£ B FE (R

AEBEYESWAENE
HERHRERER -
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

14. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

14. B QT

TEMBRAFBNOT :

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and interest attributable
Company name operations Issued and paid-up share to the Company Principal activities
RL/#RE AAaMERA
AnEH R3] BRARARRS RERASL IZER
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEC@E S 1} 2=
Cokeen Development Limited Hong Kor}g HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100 100 Provision of management
BRERERAA Bk 10,000% 7 10,0007 and administrative
Services
REEERABES
E-Dotcom Limited Hong Kor]g HKS2 HK$2 100 100 Investment holding
& AT BT REZR
HTP Industrial Limited Hong Korjg HK$2,000,000  HK$2,000,000 100 100 Sale of precision parts and
B (F%) ARAT 58 2,000,0008% 2,000,008 components
HERTZHM
Hi-Tech (China) Investment Limited Hong Kor]g HK$2,000,000  HK$2,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
TR (hE) REERAT EE 2,000,000  2,000,000%7 REARR
Hi-Tech Investment Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
AEAARES 50,0005 7 5000057 RERR
Hi-Tech Property Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss1 Us$1 100 100 Property holding
Mainland China 1£7 E3i MELEE
ABEERES/
hEARE
Hi-Tech Precision Industrial Limited HongKong  HK$1,500,000  HKS1,500,000 100 100 Sale of precision parts and
FEREIEARAR B 150000087 1,500000%7 components
HERTEHM
Hunpex Limited Hong Koqg HK$4,650,000  HK$4,650,000 100 100 Investment holding
RMERRAT BE 465000087  4,650,000%7 RAERK
K & P Group (Holdings) Limited British Virgin Islands/ ~ US§1,238,545 US§1,238,545 100 100 Investment holding
. HongKong  £71238,545 1,238, 54557 REAR
AEERERES/
&
K. S. (China) Electronics Manufactory Hong Korjg HKS$2 HKS2 100 100 Investment holding
Limited B AT VAT REER

2 (PE)ETRARLA
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14. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

T
HE-Z

mE+=—A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

14. BT (&)

Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of equity
registration and interest attributable
Company name operations Issued and paid-up share to the Company Principal activities
RL/ERE ARAFERE
ARER EXUY BRTRARRS BHEAD IBEH
2024 2023 2024 2023
It k3 i St it 112 i S
Mars Field Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 Usst 100 100 Investment holding
THERRA Hong Kong ESH %7 RERR
KELMRHE/
B
Sun Naai Plastic Products Factory Limited Hong Kong ~ HK$10,890,000  HK$10,890,000 100 100 Inactive
HEEBRRMARDA BE  10890,0008% 10,890,005 e
Technology Trends International Limited  British Virgin Islands/ US$50,000 U5$50,000 100 100 Sale of precision parts and
Singapore 50,000% 70 50,0005 70 components
ABkRRES/ HERTTHN
IR
hEMILEFRRAA" Mainland China  US$10,000,000  US$10,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and sale
MELREE  10,000,0005% 10,000,000 7 of precision parts and
components
HERHERTTRN
PLTEHETARA* Mannland China ~ US§3,000,000  US$3,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and sale
BERE 300000027 3,000,005 of precision parts and
components
HERHERTTHMN
SHERRFI) BRA A Mainland China ~ HK$22,125390  HK$22,125,390 100 100 Inactive
hEARE (note i) (note i) Thay
RABINET 22125390
(Hati) (B 3H)

* These entities are Mainland China limited liability companies.

Note:

(i) On 22 September 2016, the registered share capital increased from
HK$8,000,000 to HK$23,000,000. The remaining registered share
capital of HK$874,610 is committed by the Group to inject on or
before 21 September 2026.

* W RRARTEARERREEAA

(i) pA—_

—~NFENA=Z+=H

A E

7K E38,000,0007%5 7T SN Z23,000,000

BIL e AEBERFENR T =
Z+—H=ZZA -

874,610/ 7T °

NENA
A [ Bt i E A

BRHERZERERATF
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Year ended 31 December 2024

14. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

15.

Except for K & P Group (Holdings) Limited, all of the above
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. None of the
subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) AT FAIR

14. BT (&)

KK & P Group (Holdings) Limited
Gh - ELER A B A R A A B
BEE RAFE  BEMNBAAE
BITEMEBSES -

EERB - ERAIIHZARRNE
NAETBRERNFREEANBRAE
BEEFEIEZHMD EFLRR
REEMHBRRNFMAEN - &5

15. BAFEEFTAERERZERA

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS gE (A8
2024 2023
—E_MMEF ===
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Non-current assets RBEE
Club membership e et 680,000 680,000
Current assets REEE
Forward currency contracts EHBE®EH 2,158,722 -
Current liability nEEE
Forward currency contracts RPEEELN (4,381,614) (8,045,759)
Non-current liability FnBEE
Forward currency contracts RHEEERN - (1,146,464)

Club membership

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the club membership was
issued by a private entity. It is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The fair value of the club
membership is determined with reference to the publicly
available price information.

el
RZE_WNFR_ZTE_=ZF+=A
=+t—HB ELETMREELETER
HremessE RNeEmSHERTE
HAFEE - WEeHMeBEz AT EE
T2ERNAZKEER -
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15. FINANCIAL ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) AT FAIR

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Forward currency contracts, at fair values, held for trading
The Group entered into six (2023: twenty-two) forward
currency contracts at a total of US$13,175,216 (2023:
US$55,465,721) for the exchange of United States Dollars
("US$"”) with RMB with the forward rates ranged from
RMB6.819 to RMB6.997 (2023: RMB6.571 to RMB6.997)
per US$1, and six (2023: Nil) forward currency contracts at a
total of RMB91,000,000 (2023: Nil) for the exchange of RMB
with US$ with the forward rates ranged from RMB7.043 to
RMB7.090 (2023: Nil) per US$1. The maturity dates of these
forward currency contracts are during the period from 19
March 2025 to 10 October 2025 (2023: 16 January 2024 to
10 October 2025).

During the year, the Group has loss of HK$10,635,692
(2023: HK$16,703,738) arising from fair value change of
outstanding forward currency contracts, together with loss at
termination of four (2023: nine) forward currency contracts
of a total of US$10,113,353 (2023: US$23,988,640) on the
maturity dates and twelve (2023: Nil) contracts of a total of
US$32,177,151 (2023: Nil) before the maturity dates, for the
exchange of US$ with RMB which depreciated. The original
maturity dates for the twelve contracts terminated before
maturity date during the year were during the period from 16
May 2024 to 11 July 2025.

15.

BE_Z_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

Year ended 31 December 2024

EAFEEFTAEZEREZSH
BE (868 @)
BEAFEBERXGEREEAY
AREBEII AP (ZE=-_=: =+=
m)ET(ET) AARKBRME
13,175,216k L (ZE = = & :
55,465,721%7T) WERBMEB A4 -
REE RS E AR FIEIT H6.819A
REZE6997ARE (ZZE =%
6571/\E°¢% 6.997T A R®) + B~
Hm(ZE== ﬂ)/\ﬁffi@%,a%mﬁ@@
91,000,000 A R# (= ) Y
REPEBEA - Lﬁﬂtfﬁﬁlmaﬁ
TLHT.043NR¥EE7.090A B (=
T F |  ZERHAEEEYN
ZEBAEER TS _AF=A TN
BHE—_Z-_AF+A+H (===
FR-IFE-_WF-AF+ANEHE-ZE
—HFE+A+AH) -

AER BABARBEREETERE:
AEERERHEBASHNGEEEE
10,635,6928 JT (fz:zi :
16,703,738 70) It B 1EF &= BB
EEAH A ﬂ?{ﬂﬁ“{t iSRS
A EEREG (ZTE_=4F: A
%) mEE A H4(E10,113,353%
& (ZTE =4 :23,988,640%%) &
AEHEBAR T =N (ZE==F:
) RIIE S 4R E32,177,1513%
S(ZE=F B\ 2EBEBE - AFE
RAMRIEN+ —HAEHNREEEHHE &
BAE—_ZE_NFRA+~HE-Z
—hFEEA+—H-

BRHERZERERATF
“E_MEFH
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

16. INVENTORIES 16. &€&

2024 2023

—E-NFE —E =4

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Raw materials JR# 17,061,210 20,123,050
Work in progress TR 9,464,438 10,297,819
Finished goods RUAK i 16,827,585 18,674,010
43,353,233 49,094,879

Less: provision for slow-moving B B EERE

inventories (1,184,882) (1,183,521)
42,168,351 47,911,358

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no RZE-_WNFR_ZTE-_=F+=A
inventories carried at fair value less cost to sell. =+—H8 UTEAANGFERAFEE

17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 17. BARE - REREMEWRR
RECEIVABLES b= |

2024 2023

—ECIE —E-=F

HK$ HK$

7B T BT

Prepayments AR RROR 2,292,454 1,108,530

Deposits and other receivables e & H b e W SRR 2,028,769 3,172,738

4,321,223 4,281,268
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. FEUWERE
2024 2023
—ECQE —E-—F
Note HK$ HK$
B 3 BT BT
Trade receivables FE U BR 18 34,684,895 35,925,870
Less: loss allowance R B IE B 32(b) (30,500) (30,500)

34,654,395 35,895,370

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and B B & B A e Uk BR 18 K E 4th B Uk SR
loss allowance for trade and other receivables is included in BHEENEERR MNEERBREZE
note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements. ReEEHsEe WS RRME320b) -
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RS BRE N AR IAE R Z B H ROR
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of BrEIERER CBREDITOT

loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=F

HK$ HK$

BT T

Within 90 days TRA 30,166,137 33,580,482
91 to 180 days n+—Z=—8NA+X 4,488,258 2,097,910
Over 180 days —BANTRNAE - 216,978

34,654,395 35,895,370

19. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 19. RITEBRKES
2024 2023
—E_MEF === =
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Time deposits with original maturity i im = & A R E ZI| 5
over three months FHIF = = 50,788,746
As stated in the consolidated EIREGERERER
statement of cash flows 67,166,721 49,566,751
As stated in the consolidated EYRERE M IER AR
statement of financial position 67,166,721 100,355,497
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Year ended 31 December 2024

19.

20.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, included in the balance
of the Group are bank balances and cash deposited in
Mainland China and denominated in RMB of HK$3,326,717
(2023: HK$10,031,912). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default. Time deposits as at 31 December
2023 represented bank deposits placed in banks in Hong
Kong. The interest rate ranged from 4.29% to 4.30% per
annum in 2024 (2023: 2.28% t0 5.21%).

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

19.

20.

RITERRBEE (#)

RE|ER - AREERBEKE 24
HREFEUAARBFTECRITERR
& 53,326,71 78 L (ZE_=4F:
10,031,912%87T) - AR T8 B A
HIRH B AR IR R B K FE SN
EHERTERET  HERIANE
BRT  AEEEESBERELE
TBINFETE 2 SRITIE AR H RN -

BTHEEGFEREEEMmMOPTEE
DEREERIT N BE_=F+_A4
=+t BNEHERAETEREBRIT
WIRITENR MR 2T HFEEFF)
REE HA29%2430% (T ==
& 2.28%FE521%) °

FE YRR IR

R REMREREZAHZE
BT :

2024 2023
—ENEF —T==

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within 90 days N+XRA 9,618,408 9,970,520
91 to 180 days +—ZE—8\ NA+X 20,045 5,484
Over 180 days —BNTRNUE 13,563 13,914
9,652,016 9,989,918

The trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
are normally settled on terms varying from 60 to 120 days of
invoice date.

ENRRIBERERR 28R —KRNE
SHHZATE-B-_TXREE-
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

21. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. B8 EREMENSRE

2024 2023

—E-MF —TZ=F

Note HK$ HK$

B 7 BT BT

Contract liabilities AEHEaE 21(a) 5,165,847 5,158,304
Other accrued liabilities HihEAE 10,311 29,451
Other payables H fth &t FRI8 4,424,276 3,796,647
Accrued sales commission JERT SR & 2,190,191 1,852,622
Staff cost payables ENETHY 18,433,487 18,810,622

30,224,112 29,647,646

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average HihENREBERESREEHATH
credit period of three months. ={EA -
(a) Contract liabilities (a) ENEE
The amount includes toolings and mould deposits ZeHEeEEREARS REBIK
received and sales deposits received. HERS °
The movements of toolings and mould deposits AKEBAREBIIERE LR F
received and sales/deposits received from contracts 1552 REEF & HRE RIE
with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as B REWHERS 2EBN
follows: T
2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
HK$ HK$
7 JT BT
At 1 January K—HA—H 5,158,304 5,319,731
Recognised as revenue R ABWA (10,694,261)  (12,603,987)
Receipt of advances or recognition U 2 78 5 3 18 sk
of receivables TR e W5k 18 10,701,804 12,442,560
At 31 December R+=—BA=+—H 5,165,847 5,158,304
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HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

21. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EsrE8BEREMENSRE (2)

(continued)

(a) Contract liabilities (continued) (a) 6HEEBE#E)

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
there is a decrease in the overall contract activities
and customer base of the Group, thereby decreasing
the amount arising from the receipt of advances or
recognition of receivables.

At 31 December 2024, the contract liabilities that are
expected to be settled within the next twelve months
are HK$3,196,095 (2023: HK$3,489,881) and the
contract liabilities that are expected to be settled
after more than 12 months are HK$1,969,752 (2023:
HK$1,668,423). The customer paid for the goods or
services in advance and the timing of the transfer
of those goods or services is at the discretion of the
customer.

HE_Z_NEER-_ZT_=F
+—A=+—Hit - HRAEEH
BEAYEHREFPEZBD -
U B T8 1 5108 sk FE 52 B UK SR T Y
SR T -

R -_WNFE+—_/A=+—8"
A H# B 1EE3,196,0958 T (=
T — =4 : 3,489,881/ L) A HH
RzE+—ERREE 648
BE1H1,969,7528 L (Z T = =
F :1,668,423/570) TEHAR S
Z2BT_EAES - FABYE
SRS RIE - WHBREAEEY
HRIEH A BB -

Unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied KIEIT BB 17K BT HI B AT
performance obligations BF
The following table shows unsatisfied performance BEREAZS RBYSHEZRS TP
obligations resulting from toolings and mould deposits ABITHBRHNBEDT :
received and sales deposits received:
2024 2023
—ZE_MF —E-=
HK$ HK$
BT T
Aggregate amount of the transaction R+=-_A=+—H7o %
price allocated to toolings and mould ~ ZBH K2 EBARBITHE MK
deposits received and sales deposits KEZS REWHERS
received that are partially or fully RAAZ 5B
unsatisfied as at 31 December 8,022,893 7,539,437

Management expects that 59% (2023: 65%) of the
transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations as of 31 December 2024 amounted
to HK$4,733,508 (2023: HK$4,900,634) will be
recognised as revenue during the next reporting
period. The remaining 41% (2023: 35%) amounted to
HK$3,289,385 (2023: HK$2,638,803) will be recognised
in the 2026 financial year. The amount disclosed
above does not include variable consideration which is
constrained.

EEEER R E_WF+=
A=+—BoRZ=XRETERH
MRS EENS9% (ZF - =
F :65%)FE N —EARSHA
R AU A4,733,5087% 7T (=
T — =4 : 4,900,634 7T) -
Hep41% (T - =4 :35%)
3,289,385 L (Z T = =4 :
2,638,803 L) R =T =<
FHRFERER - LHiFEESE
TEEZHRHAIEEE -
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

22. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 22. FERITREMEE
BORROWINGS
2024 —E_NEF
Effective
interest rate
(%) per annum Maturity Amount
EREFIE(%) A kx|
HK$
BT
Revolving term loans — unsecured 6.60% Fully repayable on 13/2/2025 3,000,000
BIREHER - EHH H-Z-_hf-A+=H2HEE
2023 T4
Effective
interest rate
(%) per annum Maturity Amount
BB EFE(%) i &8
HK$
BT
Revolving term loans — unsecured 7.67-7.69 Fully repayable on 5/1/2024 4,000,000
BIREHER - BHA A-_Z-_NF—ARLHZHESE
Fully repayable on 18/1/2024 3,000,000
R-Z-WE-ATN\B2EEER
7,000,000
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings approximate AEBEEZREEEEAFEER
their fair values. H e
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's bank R-_EBE_NER_ZE_=9+=_H
facilities were secured by a corporate guarantee executed by =+t—HB AEEEARITHAREE
the Company. B BARRABFELZ DEER -

BRHERZERERATF 133

—E-NEER




GLEMBHmRNE o
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HEAE
The following table shows the remaining contractual RIMEHR - NEBIZEFIERE 42 H
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the WEEBENAT

reporting periods:

2024 2023
—E-_mEF —E=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current: E
Within one year N—F R 122,983 297,727
Non-current: 1355
After one year but within three years —FEER=FRA = 127,463
122,983 425,190
The Group has recognised the following amounts for the RNE BN EAERATHIFIE :
year:
2024 2023
—E_MMEF —E-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Lease payments: HERE:

Short-term leases HHEE 220,464 203,544
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIERER S 220,464 203,544
Lease payments: HEMIE:

Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6) HEAEF B (HE6) 11,026 22,043

Under leases REET 293,845 282,283

304,871 304,326
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRIReRLE 525,335 507,870
Commitment under leases HEXIE
At 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any RZZBE_WNF+_A=+—H ' &&E
commitment to short-term leases (2023: Nil). B EAESHEE (=4

&) o
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

24. DEFERRED TAX 24, REHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during REERNZELEREBEREEZD
the year are as follows: W
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities FEEREBE(EE) 86
2024 —EmF
Fair value
change on  Depreciation
financial allowance
assets/ in excess
liabilities at of related  Revaluation
Tax losses FVPL  depreciation of properties Total
RFVPLE B
BE/BR AR
AT EE FEZ
HEER Bl FERHE NEER @t
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
B BT BT B BT
At 1 January 2024 N-_Z-NE—-F—H - (1,498,974) 871,006 26,221,938 25,593,970
Deferred tax credited to income ~ AEERFIERFAZ
statement during the year EEHE (1,568,974) 1,498,974 - - (70,000)
Deferred tax charged to other AEEREMEEBA
comprehensive income Nk 2 ELERE
during the year - - - (275,814) (275,814)
Gross deferred tax R-ZE-ME+=A
(assets)/liabilities at =t-HZEERE
31 December 2024 (BE) /8E4E (1,568,974) - 871,006 25,946,124 25,248,156
2023 —E=F
Fairvalue  Depreciation
change on allowance
financial assets/ in excess
liabilities at of related  Revaluation of
Tax losses FVPL  depreciation properties Total
RFVPLE B
BE/BE el
ZATERE nEZ
HEEE g  HESHE NEEME @t
HKS HK$ HKS HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—-F—-H - (698,974) 871,006 25,498,662 25,670,694
Deferred tax credited to income ~ REFRFBERFAZ
statement during the year ERERE - (800,000) - - (800,000)
Deferred tax charged to other ~ AEERAMEZERA
comprehensive income Nk ZELHE
during the year - - - 723,276 723,276
Gross deferred tax RZE-Z=%+_H
(assets)/liabilities at =t+—-BZELHE
31 December 2023 (BE)/afE88 - (1,498,974) 871,006 26,221,938 25,593,970

BRHERZERERATF
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Year ended 31 December 2024

24. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the following items:

24, EFERIR ()

RIFRIBELERAE E
BRAERELERAEEZHBNT

2024 2023

—E-F —ET=-=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deductible temporary differences o FHE EEEER 4,201,061 4,580,417
Tax losses I8 E5 18 6,449,205 25,798,838
At end of the reporting period R IR E B R 10,650,266 30,379,255

Pursuant to Mainland China Corporate Income Tax Law,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The Group is therefore
liable to withholding taxes on dividends to be distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for such withholding taxes that would be payable on the
retained earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China that are subject to withholding taxes
at distribution. In the opinion of the directors, these
accumulated profits, at the present time, are required
for financing the continuing operations of the entities
and no distribution would be made in the future. The
aggregate amount of retained earnings associated
with these subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$11,805,600 at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$12,251,000).

REFERECEMRFRE  RHE
REKRIZWINERELERIIERE
EERBRBARI0%BURIAHH - itk
REBR-_TTNF-A—BEER
YERR -_ZTZTLF+_A=+—H
BEOERN - HPBEAERIINEREE
HMBDEERFI ARG - QI &R
BEMNEMRE - Bt AREER
ERR P B ARPER L H % FH B QA
R-ZZBZNFE-A-BEELENATN
P 0 IR O B B A FRFO AR ©

R-_ZE_ME+—_A=+—8 "  &&
5 I 42 5t 2 P B K R AL 2 B B A A
B R AR BB B B EE A 2 FE S TE 3T
MERELEHE EZRAEREATA
Jt.:iii%.#/ﬁn?‘ru/,\%sﬂi“7%%%«

WA TE R AR REED IR ° K
_?_m¢+ B=+—8 fEE
RAAETREAENBABREETE
%EZLLﬁIEELﬁi@aH’m 805,600
BT (ZZ - =%:12,251,000/87T) °
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

24. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 24, RER A (#)
Unrecognised deferred tax assets (continued) RIREBELEREEE (&)
At 31 December 2024, the Group has unrecognised tax R-ZE-_W&E+_-_HA=+—H " K&
losses that can be offset against future taxable profits of EE A B R ZENE R A ER
the respective subsidiaries. No deferred tax asset has been Tt A B R R IBE 18 o BRI
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit i M E R TR - E Uk N0 R g UL 7
streams. The expiry dates for unrecognised tax losses are as RIELETIBEE - RERTIEEED
follows: JEm BT
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Tax losses without expiration 8w 2 T IE B 1R 3,050,703 12,347,795
Tax losses expiring in: AN Em 2 BiIEEE
- 2024 —ZTZOF - 10,354,604
- 2025 ——ZT_FhHF 905,471 930,623
- 2026 ——Z R 847,508 871,050
- 2027 —Z—E-tF 763,625 784,837
- 2028 ——Z - )\F 496,147 509,929
-2029 ——ZT - NEF 385,751 =
At the end of the reporting period R ®&EH R 6,449,205 25,798,838
There are no income tax consequences attaching to the RNQ AR IR E T B AR R IR 1S
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. B E -
25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. BR&
2024 2023
—_ETE-_MEF .
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Shares IR 17
Authorised: JATE ¢
900,000,000 shares of HK$0.10 each 900,000,0000% & % H &
0.108 7T 90,000,000 90,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERE :
267,004,800 shares of HK$0.10 each  267,004,8000% & i% &
0.10/8 7T 26,700,480 26,700,480
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26. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 65 and 66 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The share premium account represents the excess of
the net proceeds or consideration from issuance of the
Company’s shares over their par value.

The application of the share premium account is
governed by Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda.

The contributed surplus of the Group arose as a result
of the Group’s reorganisation and represents the
excess of the nominal value of the share capital of the
former holding company of the Group, K & P Group
(Holdings) Limited, prior to the Group’s reorganisation
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares in
1996, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefor, less the amount
capitalised to pay up the nil-paid shares issued on the
incorporation of the Company.

The asset revaluation reserve of the Group is used
to record the increases in the fair value of land and
buildings and the decreases to the extent that such
decrease relates to an increase on the same asset
previously recognised in equity.

The exchange fluctuation reserve of the Group is
used to record exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries.

26. & &
(a)

%8

NEE R IARTEE 2 N BHE
LEEE 2N AR E P HRER
F65M66B ZERAERBER o

B ERERITARBRNE
KRB HREFRAREBEE
E{EZ #B10 °

BhaEBERZEAXBERE
—NMN—FREEFL0KEE o

REBZHABBREAEBE
B IEAEER—ANAER
EHEADARMD ETZEMERIA
S8 ZHER A AK & P Group
(Holdings) Limited & f& 7 & (B &
ARBERIBZERD METR
AEEZ 2 & EREREA
BT AR R) 2 sE A S B AT 3%
TARBRROZEH -

AEEZEEERHEREBETL
Bt METRFEEEMN
HEER DS RERNEREER
BERRFEER N RER 2

Ny
ZS o

I

AEE 2 E KB HEEERRC
SR E BN B R R M IR M
EEWELZE -
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26. RESERVES (continued) 26. #FHE &)

(b) Company (b) AF
Share
premium Contributed Accumulated  Proposed

account surplus losses dividend Total

REEE  HABR  RHEBE EBEIERS @t

HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS

BT BT BT BT BT

At 1 January 2023 RZE-=£-f-H 50,856,881 49,999,981 (40,289,137) 16,020,288 76,588,013
Profit for the year and total REERNRAEEZARALE

comprehensive income for the year - 27,061,493 - 27,061,493

2022 Final dividend paid (note 1) BR=Z=ZFRBRE (Fi11) - - (16,020,288) (16,020,288)

Interim dividend paid (note 11) B ERE (A1) - (5,340,09) - (5340,09)

Final dividend proposed (note 11) BERARE (F3E11) - (21,360,384) 21,360,384 =

At 31 December 2023 WZE-=F+-A=1—H 50,856,881 49,999,981 (39,928,124) 21,360,384 82,289,122
Profit for the year and total RAEERFIRAEEZANANES

comprehensive income for the year - 16,241,058 - 16,241,058

2023 Final dividend paid (note 11) ENZEZZFREKRE (W) = - (21360,384) (21,360,384)

Interim dividend paid (note 11) ERTRERE (K1) - (5,340,09) - (5340,09)

Final dividend proposed (note 11) BERARE (1) - (10,680,192) 10,680,192 =

At 31 December 2024 R-BE-ME+ZA=+-H 50,856,881 49,999,981 (39,707,354) 10,680,192 71,829,700

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the difference between the underlying consolidated
net assets of K & P Group (Holdings) Limited and
its subsidiaries at the date on which the Group’s
reorganisation became effective, referred to in note
26(a) to the consolidated financial statements, over
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company
issued in exchange therefore, less the amount
capitalised to pay up the nil-paid shares issued on the
incorporation of the Company.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Company may make distributions to its members out
of the contributed surplus in certain circumstances.
As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, amounted to
HK$20,972,819 (2023: HK$31,432,241).

RRABIZHABEBEK & P
Group (Holdings) Limited 5 £ Bff
BRAR&EBEEAEMA 245
REEFESHARAMET
URBZARBRAEBEZ &
(FFBEHEN GRS T SRR M =
26(a))  WMEHREARLARA
NE Z MR B a7 R B
Bz &8

BEAREZE—NN\—FRRE
AQE| A EREFER T REAR
BRABREEKBELDIR - R
“ENF+_A=1+—H" &
RRABREERE—N/\—FAF
ETHEE - AMRARRESIK
2 ## 520,972,819 T (=&
T =% 131,432,241 L) ©
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27. CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 27. REEERELECAERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Details of the changes in the Group'’s liabilities from financing REERETDHEEZARED 25
activities are as follows: IER NN
2024 —E-MF
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease Dividend
borrowing liabilities payable Total
FERTR
Hitnfe & HESE EfRE # 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At beginning of the year REAFES 7,000,000 425,190 - 7,425,190
New unsecured revolving term AR EERERE
loans/trust receipt loans B/ ERREER 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000
Declaration of dividend ERRE - - 26,700,480 26,700,480
Dividend paid BEARE - - (26,700,480) (26,700,480)
Repayment of unsecured revolving  EREHAERAE D
term loans/trust receipt loans B/ ERREER (15,000,000) - - (15,000,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEMERE - (293,845) = (293,845)
Exchange realignment R A% - (8,362) - (8,362)
At end of the year REFER 3,000,000 122,983 - 3,122,983
2023 —E-=F
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease Dividend
borrowing liabilities payable Total
FRBTR
e & HEARE FEfT AR 2 EH)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At beginning of the year WAEEA] 4,591,980 701,239 - 5,293,219
New unsecured revolving term HEmEmERENES
loans/trust receipt loans EAWEE 12,122,640 = = 12,122,640
Declaration of dividend ERRE = - 21,360,384 21,360,384
Dividend paid BERRE = - (21,360,384)  (21,360,384)
Repayment of unsecured revolving BB EEABREHER/
term loans/trust receipt loans EflEER (9,714,620) - - (9,714,620)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEERE = (282,283) - (282,283)
Exchange realignment 0 5, 5% = 6,234 - 6,234
At end of the year RAFER 7,000,000 425,190 - 7,425,190
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BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 27. MEETEHELCEGEEEH 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and leases HEIRITREMEEREE & BN
liabilities are disclosed in note 22 and 23 to the consolidated SRR TT22 23D I E -

financial statements respectively.

COMMITMENTS 28. FIE
Except for those disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated BREBERNGEE BRI A
financial statements, at the end of the reporting period, the Sh RIEBR - AEEWEEME
Group did not have any other capital commitments. AN FRHE o
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BEALIRS
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: REFEFEEERAS 28 :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee benefits RHEERT 7,459,329 7,534,460
Contributions to retirement benefit RORAEFIET S R
schemes 18,000 18,000
Total compensation paid to key YRFEBEBAEZ
management personnel 78 3R B 7,477,329 7,552,460
The above compensation for key management personnel of NEREEEZEEBAB ZHRMETE
the Group includes emoluments paid to the directors. Further YNFEEZHNE - BHEEME 2
details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to the BN BIERERE ISR T8 -

consolidated financial statements.

BRHERZERERATF
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. 2RI ENSE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR - eI ASERNNRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as (ER NN
follows:
2024 —E-NEF
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised asset at
cost FVPL Total
BRE A2 EFVPLZ
SREE CREE et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets as per consolidated REGEHBERRERZ
statement of financial position: SREE:
Financial asset at FVPL ZFVPLZ BB E
— Club membership —SHe - 680,000 680,000
— Forward currency contracts - RHEEEH - 2,158,722 2,158,722
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEREMNTIE  BER
deposits and other receivables (note 17) Hh EUGRIA 2 & @b
& (fist17) 603,149 - 603,149
Trade receivables JIEUs BR 1A 34,654,395 - 34,654,395
Bank balances and cash RITHALERS 67,166,721 - 67,166,721
102,424,265 2,838,722 105,262,987
2024 —EgEF
Financial
liabilities at Financial
amortised liabilities
cost at FVPL Total
g )R EFVPLZ
ZERERE cREE et
HKS$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial liabilities as per consolidated 1REHAMBMRREZ
statement of financial position: cREE:
Financial liability at FVPL BFVPLZ BB E
— Forward currency contracts - RHEELY - 4,381,614 4,381,614
Trade payables 1S BRIE 9,652,016 - 9,652,016
Financial liabilities included in accrued BEREFTAEBEREA
liabilities and other payables (note 21) ENFEzZRERE
(B&F21) 6,150,291 - 6,150,291
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #BRIT N EMEE 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
Lease liabilities HERRE 122,983 - 122,983
18,925,290 4,381,614 23,306,904
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T
HE-Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. e RIEMNSE &)

(continued)
2023 T
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised asset
cost at FVPL Total
BB AR 2 &FVPLZ
TREE CREE Et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets as per consolidated REGEHBERRERZ
statement of financial position: SREE:
Financial asset at FVPL RFVPLZ & Bb & B
— Club membership —SMeE - 680,000 680,000
Financial assets included in prepayments,  BEREMNKIE - &E2 K&
deposits and other receivables (note 17) Hib W FRIE 2 & @
& (fist17) 1,350,329 - 1,350,329
Trade receivables FE W BR 18 35,895,370 - 35,895,370
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREE S 100,355,497 - 100,355,497
137,601,196 680,000 138,281,196
2023 —T-=fF
Financial
liabilities at Financial
amortised liabilities at
cost FVPL Total
REHEKAZ HBFVPLZ
TRAE TREBE BEr
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial liabilities as per consolidated REBHSHHRREZ
statement of financial position: CRBE:
Financial liability at FVPL BFVPLZ 2B AE
— Forward currency contracts —RHEEEH - 9,192,223 9,192,223
Trade payables eI BRIR 9,989,918 - 9,989,918
Financial liabilities included in accrued BERETABEREMER
liabilities and other payables (note 21) FEze@eE (fE21) 5,028,285 - 5,028,285
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings # £ 31T R HibEE 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 425,190 - 425,190
22,443,393 9,192,223 31,635,616
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31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 31. AT EEE
The following presents the assets and liabilities measured NTREBEMGREEREI135 - &
at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in these FEEFEMAEZATEBE=E%
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across BINHIEATEEFECEERAR
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS BRI E MR ERNGRE M HRR B
13, Fair Value Measurement, with the fair value measurement ZARATEEZYBENREZRESR
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that MERNTFEENBBIFEFEATE
is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs B ABIE - MABBRERERLT

are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in F—H(ZRER)  A5EEFER
active markets for identical assets A {E & B8 45 BY
or liabilities that the Group can RHEREEXE
access at the measurement date; B2 mE R

HE)

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices B BEXBENE
included within Level 1 that B HEER
are observable for the asset MASE - F—
or liability, either directly or RBIEZHmER
indirectly; g

Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset F_H(REER)  BEEXRBEZT
or liability. B R A

& o
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31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 31.

The following table shows an analysis of assets and liabilities
measured at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

AFEE B ()

TRERELAFEEFENEERA
B WRAFEESEDBEZOMN:

2024
—B-mE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B E=R Mt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets SREE:
Financial assets at FVPL: RFVPLZ © BB
— Club membership =l
- outside Hong Kong — BABIRI 680,000 - - 680,000
~ Forward currency contracts - BHEBAN - 2,158,722 - 2,158,722
Leasehold land and buildings: HEEBELHRET
Commercial - Hong Kong EESEY - - 59,100,000 59,100,000
Owned buildings: EERT
Industrial T - BARI
- outside Hong Kong - - 70,650,000 70,650,000
Financial liabilities cREeE:
Financial liabilities at FVPL: BFVPLZ & RBE
— Forward currency contracts —RHEEEH - 4,381,614 - 4,381,614
2023
—EC-=F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—R FEM B= Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets SREE:
Financial assets at FVPL: BFVPLZ € BB E
— Club membership —EMes
- outside Hong Kong — BBEIN 680,000 - - 680,000
Leasehold land and buildings: HESFLHRET
Commercial - Hong Kong BE BB - - 64,821,000 64,821,000
Owned buildings: BERT :
Industrial TE-FAERN
- outside Hong Kong - - 75,098,000 75,098,000
Financial liabilities cHEE:
Financial liabilities at FVPL: BFVPLZ SR B(E -
— Forward currency contracts - RHEEAN - 9,192,223 - 9,192,223
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31.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements and no transfers into and out of Level
3 fair value measurements. During the year ended 31
December 2023, land and building — commercial Hong
Kong was transferred into Level 3 with the fair value of
HK$64,821,000.

Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements

31.

AFEETEE)

BHE_Z_HWFEF+-_A=+—H1t
FERN AFEEAEE—HKFE=
Mz EWEEMERE  BEE=FR
FEEFEZEAREL -HE_F
=+ A=+—BHILEFEER I
RBEBZ THRAEEFEAL=E
48 - RF(BEE64,821,000 T °

F=RMAVEEFEZ2H

2024 —E_EF
Land and
Land and building:
building: Industrial -
Commercial - outside
Hong Kong Hong Kong
THREF: THREF:
B¥-FE IE-FBEN
HK$ HK$
Description it BT BT
At beginning of the reporting period FA R & 5 40 64,821,000 75,098,000
Depreciation debited to profit or loss BaRMpR2ITE (3,627,680) (2,596,628)
Fair value (loss) gain on revaluation credited/ Z{fAF(EE (E18) Kz
debited to other comprehensive income ARG E At 2 mE U A (2,093,320) 278,332
Exchange realignment BEE 54, o B - (2,129,704)
At the end of the reporting period REEHKR 59,100,000 70,650,000
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31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 31. 2 EEFE#E)
Movements in Level 3 fair value measurements F=RAFEEFEZERE (Z)
(continued)

2023 T _=4F
Land and
Land and building:
building: Industrial -
Commercial - outside
Hong Kong Hong Kong
THRIETF : THRIETF
HE-—BE Ix—-FBEIN
HK$ HK$
Description g BT BT
At beginning of the reporting period R E B - 75,382,000
Transferred from level 2 asset to HE_REEBEE=REE
level 3 asset 64,821,000 -
Depreciation debited to profit or loss BRRNGZITE - (2,548,734)
Fair value gain on revaluation credited SHEATLEBERZETA
to other comprehensive income H2EIA - 3,712,736
Exchange realignment PE & - (1,448,002)
At the end of the reporting period Rk HIR 64,821,000 75,098,000

BRHERZERERATF
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31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs
used in Level 2 fair value measurement

a)

Forward currency contracts

The fair value of forward currency contracts is measured
by comparing the contracted forward rates and the
guoted forward exchange rates for the remaining
contractual maturity, by the same bank, which are
observable at the end of the reporting period.

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs
used in Level 3 fair value measurement

a)

b)

Properties located in Mainland China

The fair value of the properties located in Mainland
China was revalued by Migo Corporation Limited
independent professionally qualified valuer, using
depreciated replacement cost approach. The valuer
considered the subject properties are specialised
properties for which there is no readily market
observable transaction of similar properties. The
estimation of fair value of the subject properties took
into account their current cost of replacement or
reproduction, less deduction for physical deterioration
and all relevant forms of obsolescence and
optimisation.

Properties located in Hong Kong

The properties located in Hong Kong were revalued by
Migo Corporation Limited, independent professionally
qualified valuer, on the basis of market value by the
comparison approach, which is based on market
observable transactions of similar properties and
adjusted for differences in key valuation attributes, such
as size and age to reflect the conditions of the subject
properties.

31. A EEFE#E)

==

RAVEEFEZBARE

RAG{E T A

a)

F=

EHEEEH

BEMERANZATFBESLR
ERRRITERRENR - A #
RZEHANEXRNBRTEHOE
HIR Z B BE A RIBEE X & mat

=
E ¢

RAVEEFEZBARE

RAGE TS E

a)

b)

7 8 B A B 2 ) 5

IR AEZ MERBLEE
RERMEMESTARARR
RFTEEERAZEMAE - &
BEMERIZME BN - ™
BEYEABE ZBRNER
5 o WA R MEZ A HEESR
SELRRNEEREZRAS - H
MEERCR 2R AR A R RE
ENRE-

WREEZYF

NRBBLZMFEFRBLEREE
RGEMESTARARBLER
mISEEMN T AEHNGE - BA
BRI MBERYER S MR
ZMERNZ EBBETT AN
RN Rt - MBEIELZER

%&o
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AFEE B ()

E=SRAFEENBEAAZE
RAUBEGABBZELER
RAGE T I
E=RATFEEHERALEATT
B AR 2 BCER RISE
il BENEREE=RATFEE
BB TR RN ABUER D 2 5
R ¢

31. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 31.

Quantitative information of the significant
unobservable inputs and description of valuation
techniques used in Level 3 fair value measurement

The quantitative information of the significant unobservable
input and description of valuation techniques used in Level
3 fair value measurement, including the description of the
sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs for recurring
Level 3 fair value measurements, are as follows:

Sensitivity of fair value

Fair value at Valuation to changes in
Description 31 December 2024 techniques Unobservable input unobservable inputs
RZB-ME+ZA FUBERAREL
it Zt-B2AYEE fhlE 7% TUBRBAHE NTEESRERE
Asset
EE
Property, plant and equipment
VERY: 164
- Properties included in land and  HK$70,650,000 Depreciated Estimated costs of construction Assuming other factors
building: Industrial outside (2023: HK$75,098,000) replacement (HK$147 (equivalent to RMB138) remain unchanged, the

Hong Kong cost approach  per sq. ft.) (2023: HK$156 higher the estimated
(equivalent to RMB142) per sq. cost of construction, the
ft.) of similar type of industrial higher the fair value, and
premises with adjustment on age, ~ vice versa.
condition, utility, etc.

“NEARELHRET 70,650,000 1T WESERAZE BRIZMEEEER KR RREMEEAE - fhit

BEEBNIENE (Z2==%: RIEEAE  fhat BEKA ERAES  ATEEYS

75,098,000 7T) (14757 (1B138ARHE) / B Rz
FAR) (ZB==F 15687
(BEQARE) /FHR) -
- Commercial property situated in - HK$59,100,000 Market Premium or discount for quality Assuming other factors

Hong Kong (2023: HK$64,821,000) Comparison of properties (e.g. view, level remain unchanged, the

Approach and condition of the commercial higher the market price,
property), adjustment basically the higher the fair value,
range from about -9.6% to +0.4%  and vice versa.

(2023: -9.1% to +7.1%)
~NREBZBHEDE 59,100,000/ T 5 5 BUA WEEBREBINE(NEXNE BRIEMREFE  fhim
(ZB==F: S8 BERMR)EAAREE SERYE ATEEE

64,821,000 77)

H4-9.6%%+04%(ZF-=%:
-9.1%Z47.1%)

B RZTA
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31.

32.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

Quantitative information of the significant
unobservable inputs and description of valuation
techniques used in Level 3 fair value measurement
(continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group has a team comprising of executive directors and
finance manager reviewing estimation of fair value of the
properties. Fair values of the properties are estimated by the
independent professionally qualified valuer on an annual
basis. Discussions of the valuation process and results with
the executive directors and the Audit Committee are held
twice a year, for the Group's interim and annual reporting.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and cash and
short-term deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial instruments such
as trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables and accrued liabilities and other
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

31.

32.

DR EEFE @

FE=FRAVEENEFAZE
ARRUBERARE2B{LER
RAGES EZH#E (&)

EEEEESF

AEBEYEZAFEESHES M
BEEREN/ AR - ZFEWERZ
AFBEESFHBIEXAERMLE
R4 o (AERZF RERNREFMK
AEENTHEFRERRERESELE

BEBRHG -

BHERREZERERBE

AEEZTR2EMIABRETRIRIGT
REMEE  URBEREREFR -
ZECMIAZTIZENRA/AEH
LEEEET -AEENEZRER
NEBELZHMERTE - flufE
WHRIE - AN R - e REMEK
R BNREAREFABEREME
3R -
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise mainly from (i) the operating units in
Hong Kong which maintain cash in Hong Kong dollar,
their functional currency, but make sales in USD and
purchases in RMB. (ii) the majority of the transactions of
the operating units in Mainland China are denominated
in RMB but their funds are mainly sourced from
Hong Kong operating units. (iii) the operating unit in
Singapore which maintain cash in Singapore dollar, its
functional currency, but make sales in USD.

e MBHRRME

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

BE_T_ME+-_A=+—HLFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

32. BKEAMEEEEREE &)

AEESRIAF Rz T EZ/RRBI
¥R FERREABESER -
EXeEMAEAEBREEXTRAR
ZBE - BT

(a)

ShEE R

AEBERZEEER - AR
REOWEEEESEEMITAL
BRe  LhAEEER - B
EUET - MRBUARKEIET
Ho()PEAEEESMEEL
ARERS - BREESTEXRA
EBEEEM - R(ii)EEF M
REBEMRAEHMETRS -
LAEEES - BHENET
BT E -

Exposure to foreign currencies

HNERR
2024 2023
“ECNE e St =
HKD RMB usb HKD RMB )
B AR¥ EYr BT ARE ey
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B BT BT BT
Financial assets tRHEE 286,565 10,803 1,609,760 666,120 61,971,812 1,467,658
Financial liabilities SREE (46,000,000) - (6,251,148) (46,000,000) - (6,226,059)
Net exposure FER (45,713,435) 10,803  (4,641,388) (45,333,880) 61,971,812  (4,758,401)

BRHERZERERATF
“E_MEFH
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32. IBEREEEEZERBE &)

AND POLICIES (continued)
(a) ShEERBER(£)
BRE DT

RRE TR T R AR E
ARENERER S ERHEE
kA E - NEBFAER ST
HEREMN - A TRBRETRN®
THREMERFRTTE R
BREPEEARZFE Mo
KEXAREERAEREZEN
T AEERRRER (BEH
EENBENHATEELRE
) ZHREDHN -

(a) Foreign currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

In view of the fact that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged
to USD and that the Group tries to match its assets and
liabilities with the same currency, the Group’s exposure
to USD foreign currency risk is minimal. The following
table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible changes in
the foreign exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant and excluding the effect of the forward
currency contracts, of the Group’s loss after tax (due
to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and

liabilities).
2024 2023
ZEC-MEF —F_=F

(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
Increase in (Decrease)/ Increase in (Decrease)/
foreign Increase in loss foreign  Increase in loss
exchange rates after tax ~ exchange rates after tax
HEERZ BB EEE SIS R 2 Brii e B e
(R2) /B m CR2) /& m CRA) /s m CRA),/1Em
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong dollars BT (4%) (1,526,829) (2%) (757,076)
Renminbi AR 3% (271) 2% (1,034,929)
United States dollars eV 1% 38,756 1% 39,733
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk

32. BKEAMEEEEREE &)

(b) FERR

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised
on the consolidated statement of financial position,
which is net of impairment losses, represents the
Group's exposure to credit risk without taking into
account the value of any collateral held or other credit
enhancements.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. The Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly on credit, except for
new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required. Invoices are normally payable within 60
days of issuance, except for certain well-established
customers, where the terms are extended from 60 to
90 days. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control policy
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly
reviewed by senior management.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
The default risk of the industry and country in which
customers operate also has an influence on credit risk
but to a lesser extent. Credit quality of a customer
is assessed based on an extensive credit rating and
individual credit limit assessment which is mainly based
on the Group’s own trading records.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 33% (2023: 38%) of
the balance representing a receivable from two (2023:
two) customers, which was derived from sales by the
precision parts and components segment.

REFEBMBRARERNERE
EREESMRRERSRE - KX
AEENEERR - L RF &
Pris B A ERREMEEIEE
MEE-

ERHRE

AEEERAFEENF =HET
Ry BRAKENEREK - I8
RIREEHETRZNER &
ARBEERERFR  HA%E
E-ARBEXPEERGKRRD

REFHZEEMELR - R
EPF—REBZENHE - —KRE
EFEEANTRAXMN - RIFE
BEPAZFARTENATRER
iR - BRBEFPHBERRE -
AEBHREERRRBERE
ZH R EEERRAREEER
- mREEES TN ANE
W s ER R R -

AEBAZEERRZEETR
XEEPZENFHERE - BP
It EZITRERAEZBR 2
RERTFEEERR  BI2E
HiM - BEPFHNEREEENER
B {E AR E A S B R E A HE
MmAETHE - ZHBEBEERE
BECHRHRE

RRER R - NEBRERZIE
EHZEERBRERE A33%
—E-=%:38%) 3K BER
BERESENME (2=
FMAB)R, o

BRHERZERERATF
“E_MEFH

153



GLEMBHmRNE o
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32. IBEREEEEZERBE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) ESER (&)
Trade receivables (continued) FEWRARE (&)
The Group's customer base consists of a wide range K%E’\Jgﬁﬁmg‘}iﬁ’ﬂgﬁﬁﬂ
of clients and the trade receivables are categorised BX v FEUNERIE IR H R R R RS
by common risk characteristics that are representative 8- 1&%%%}5&55 KRR
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in PTG B EAZRIA /Y 8 zjj REER
accordance with the contractual terms. The Group Bt R AT ERIKRIRIERTE
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for H{EEEE - UWRESERER
trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance BEHBEAEE SRR EER
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has - WEVEREREREEER
established a provision matrix that is based on its KRB EERE - RIBBEBA
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward- MEEIR T LB RIE A =E
looking factors specific to the debtors and the THE - RBBE=FNERE
economic environment. The expected loss rate used EEELCRITEGEERNREE
in the provision matrix is calculated for each category FEpE AR TEHEER - WRE
based on actual credit loss experience over the past ERMATEERETHE - IR
three years and adjusted for current and forward- Bt L7 5% JF7 5B B BR R Y A B AR
looking factors to reflect differences between economic ZHENER BREAEEER
conditions during the period over which the historical AR A St A FE U 5k 1B TR BR R BR
data has been collected, current conditions and the B kAt o

Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or FAFER 2 BE R EREARR
significant assumptions made during the year. R E) o
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32. IKRAKEEEERBE#®)
AND POLICIES (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) SER (&)
Trade receivables (continued) FEWARE (&)
The information about the exposure to credit risk and AR EBEENEURBENEER
ECL for trade receivables using a provision matrix is R ATEHE & EEE R B
summarised below. i
As at 31 December 2024 —E-_HmNE+-A=+—AH
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
AHEEE HIREE EERE FERE
% HKS HKS$
BT BT
Not past due 1] 7 80 H 0 22,373,296 - No f&
Less than 1 month past due ~ BEADR—1E A 0 7,861,221 = No f&
1 to 3 months past due AH—Z=AA8 0 4,368,636 - No &
3 to 6 months past due BE=ZF @A 0 51,242 - No &
1 to 2 years past due BH—ZEmE 100 30,500 30,500 Yes B
34,684,895 30,500
As at 31 December 2023 RZEBEZ=F+=A=+—H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired
EHEREX BEREE EEEE EERE
% HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not past due 18 A 40 5 0 28,857,200 - No £
Less than 1 month past due M OR—{EA 0 5,145,281 - No £
1 to 3 months past due BH—Z={EA 0 1,529,075 - No £
3 to 6 months past due BE=ZF XA A 0 363,814 - No £
1 to 2 years past due BH—EHRE 100 30,500 30,500 Yes B
35,925,870 30,500

BRHERZERERATF

—E-NEER

155




GLEMBHmRNE o
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (ontinueq)

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32. IBEREEEEZERBE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) ESER (&)
Trade receivables (continued) FEW AR IE (&)
The Group does not hold any collateral over trade N_ZE_WE+_H=+—8 "
receivables as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). ZRES (B £ B e W BR IR 15 B (]

B (ZZE_=F 1 &) -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised loss RZBE-_NF+=—RA=+—8 -
allowance of HK$30,500 (2023: HK$30,500) on the 7N 55 [ BL FE U BR TR BE AR B R B
trade receivables. There was no movement in the loss 30,5008 T (ZF = = 4 :
allowance for trade receivables during both years. 30,5007 7T ) © & Us Bk 1H &5 18 13

TN % M F I AR 2 E o

Other receivables B WA

The Group considers that the other receivables have AEERREMEBRFIENEE
low credit risk based on the borrowers’ strong capacity FERRERIE - ERNERATERIERN
to meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the BITEHNHESRERANE IR
near term and low risk of default. Impairment on other 08 R B RREIR o Hih eIk
receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and reflects HRREATZEANEREE
the short maturities of the exposures. EEETE - WRE T EHREE o
In estimating the ECL, the Group has taken into account EHAEREEEE  A5EE
the historical actual credit loss experience over the EREBABE=F(ZT==
past 3 years (2023: 3 years) and the financial position F:ZF)NRELEREEEBE
of the counterparties by reference to, among others, KERRE TR - HR e
their management or audited accounts and available F2EHEBRENSEZRE &
press information, adjusted for forward-looking factors AIEMTIEER - WREGEREA
that are specific to the debtors and general economic FEMRIIEME R RE KL
conditions of the industry in which the counterparties TEAT M E R L EARNIEL
operate, in estimating the probability of default of these B DU ZEemEENEL
financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each MEUESEBLTNHENE
case. The management of the Group considers the ECL K o 1 E R MBI RE
of these financial assets to be insignificant after taking EE =k AEEBTEERAZ
into account the financial position and credit quality of ZToMEEMNTBEEBBEILT
the counterparties. BAX -

There was no change in the estimation techniques or FAFTEL 2 E R EHEARR
significant assumptions made during the year. B EEE o
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T
HE-Z

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (c)

32. BKEAMEEEEREE &)

RBETER

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative
and derivative financial liabilities as at the end of

REBRIRE RRAGT L RYTH
NREEFEZHRTERITES

(d)

the reporting period, based on the contractual BEFELET :
undiscounted payments is as follows:
2024 2023
ZEI@E Sy
After After After After
Within 1 year 2 years Within 1 year 2 years
Total 1yearoron butwithin  but within Total 1yearoron  butwithin  but within
amount  demand 2 years 5 years amount demand 2 years 5 years
-ERE  -FRE  RERE —EME  —EREE  mERE
ag REX MER BER a8 REXk MER RER
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT AL BT BT B
Non-derivative: FiiAE:
Tradle payables EffRE 9,652,016 9,652,016 - - 9989918 9,989,918 - -
Financial liabilities included &2\ B8 B R Ef:
in accrued liabilities and B ZE/2BEE
other payables (note 21) ~ (fifs21) 6,150,291 6,150,291 = - 5028285 5,028,285 - -
Iterest-bearing bank ~~ EEH{EE
borrowings 3,016,824 3,016,824 - - 7014953 7,014,953 -
Lease liabilities HERE 124183 124,183 - - 3361 315332 128,009 -
Derivative: fieg:
Financial liabiities at FVPL  #ZFVPLZ BB 4381614 4,381,614 - - 9192223 8045759 1,146,464 -
23,324,928 23,324,928 - - 31668740 30394247 1,274,493 -

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return of capital to shareholders or
issue of new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirement. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

(d) EXER
AEEEREARNEEBFER
[EARKENFEL L8 M
BRENEANLLER - UAXEEER
BRESBERERERNEE -

AEEeRELSERESLER
HEARZREWHEIEHRAE - B
RS AAREE AR - AEED
BN FREMRKRE « 38
BEARFRESREETHRG - A&
BETE Z B ER N InE
AER - REE_ZT_NFER—
T =F+_A=+—HItFE
W EEEEEANBERE  BER
MR EAEH E M EE) o
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BXEREEEEREE#)

AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Capital management (continued) (d) EXERE)

AEERAEAABLRERE
BEARIER - HIERFERAR
BEANMBEBEFENSE - BEFE

The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the total capital plus net
debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other

borrowings, lease liabilities, trade payables, accrued PREGERITREMEE  HE
liabilities and other payables less bank balances and A& EMNEREE - EraERkE
cash. Capital includes equity attributable to owners b FERTFRIE - WHIBRIRITAERR K2

B  BABREAREHRE AR
hHEs - RREMRZEAREE

of the Company. The gearing ratios at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

(5= INNE
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank and other EERITRAMEE
borrowings 3,000,000 7,000,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 122,983 425,190
Trade payables JE 1~ BR 18 9,652,016 9,989,918
Accrued liabilities and other payables EstaENEMENKIE 30,224,112 29,647,646
Less: Bank balances and cash B RITERERE (67,166,721) (100,355,497)
Net debt BIEFE (24,167,610) (53,292,743)
Total equity E = 4B RE 255,753,778 299,759,886
Total capital and net debt BERNEIRFE 231,586,168 246,467,143
Gearing ratio (Note) EARBBELEGGE) N/A N/A
Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group was in net T RIEEER-FE=F+—
cash position and the gearing ratio is negative. A=+—8 ' X&EEFHEM
nARBEREAEBE-
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Year ended 31 December 2024

33. A EIRBZ AR R T

POSITION
2024 2023
—E_NEF ===
Notes HKS$ HK$
B o BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries EBARZ&EE 58,999,981 58,999,981
Due from subsidiaries A NG @] 105,288,262 92,022,839
164,288,243 151,022,820
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and ERFIE - R Rk
other receivables H b fE Y R 1B 291,930 322,275
Bank balances and cash HE MRS EEIBER 225,136 242,109
517,066 564,384
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other EstaE R
payables H b & 1 /I8 306,120 298,820
Due to subsidiaries JE AT BT /B A B FRIE 65,918,596 42,284,741
Tax payables FEZ T 1R 50,413 14,041
66,275,129 42,597,602
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (65,758,063)  (42,033,218)
Net assets BEFE 98,530,180 108,989,602
EQUITY =
Share capital P& A 25 26,700,480 26,700,480
Reserves & 26(b) 71,829,700 82,289,122
Total equity T 4B RR 98,530,180 108,989,602

HHBRARRER T _AF=H
Tt HEEEEHERKEEM
YHTIHAEREREE

This statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 March
2025 and signed on its behalf by

Lai Pei Wor Chan Yau Wah
FEE A PR
Director Director

o £
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Five-Year Financial Summary

HE-T-_MF+_A=+—HILFE
Year ended 31 December 2024

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements, is set out

RTAAEENBEREMBEE 2 EE

BERABBEMEZ  WIHIRBRAKAMER

REMB®REK -

below.
RESULTS 45
Year ended 31 December
BEEZE+-A=1t—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EopmNE —T-=% —T_-— 2o CZIZ-TH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TEL FHEIL FHT
REVENUE WA 176,429 185,787 272,103 418,202 341,758
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX B #iAT (E18) /& F (8,752) (26,567) 1,306 72,631 77,609
TAX (EXPENSES)/CREDIT I (Fix) /#H % (304) 469 (1,809) (9,333) (10,699)
(LOSS)/PROFIT AAREAE A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ik (B518) /
OWNERS OF THE g\
COMPANY (9,056) (26,098) (503) 63,298 66,910
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
31 December
+=ZHA=+—-H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mNE —E-=F ZT=-= —E--F CZEZZE%H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FEx FiEx FHET FHT
Total assets BB E 330,143 383,668 436,908 531,050 486,665
Total liabilities BefE (74,389) (83,908) (86,657) (136,301) (136,271)
255,754 299,760 350,251 394,749 350,394
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